DISSERTATION

Isolation and characterization of immunoglobulin G from *Panthera leo* in South Africa and Zimbabwe

> By MS TEBOGO SABINA MANAMELA

STUDENT NO: 61025682

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN AGRICULTURE

in the Department of Agriculture and Animal Health

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AFRICA

SUPERVISOR: DR PN KAYOKA CO-SUPERVISOR: DR D MORAR-LEATHER

November 2020

DECLARATION

Name: Tebogo Sabina Manamela

Student number: 61025682

Degree: Master of Science in Agriculture

Title: Isolation and characterization of immunoglobulin G from *Panthera leo* in South Africa and Zimbabwe.

I declare that the above dissertation is my own work and that all the sources that I have used or quoted have been indicated and acknowledged by means of complete references.

I further declare that I submitted the dissertation to originality checking software and that it falls within the accepted requirements for originality.

I further declare that I have not previously submitted this work, or part of it, for examination at UNISA for another qualification or at any other higher education institution.

Havenees

13/11/2020

SIGNATURE

DATE

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my loving five-year old daughter, Lehlogonolo Manamela who has been there for me throughout this process. Your smile, laughter and love have given me the courage to complete this dissertation. My late mother, Mrs Grace Manamela and sister, the late Eunice Manamela, I owe you my achievement because you believed in me and raised me well. I am grateful for your strictness, love and support.

Last but not least, my loving and supportive father, Edward Manamela, thank you for your presence in my life, for the encouragement and always reminding me that God is watching over me. I know the value of hard work today because of you.

ACKNOWLEDMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor and advisor, Dr Prudence Kayoka-Kabongo for the support, encouragement and believing in me throughout the duration of this project. I would also like to thank my co-supervisor, Dr Darshana Morar-Leather and our collaborator, Prof Luis Neves, who made this project possible. Your knowledge of wildlife immunology and expertise in the laboratory proved that I would not have done it without you. Ms Anna-Mari Bosman, thank you for the training and guidance during the duration of my experimental work. Your experience in the laboratory and knowledge in the research field is amazing. A big thank you to Ms Zinathi Lukanji, PhD candidate for the assistance and support during the absence of my co-supervisor, your patience and experience is highly appreciated.

Thank you to the South African National Parks, Veterinary Wildlife Services, Biological Bank based in the Kruger National Park and a private game reserve based in the North West Province for providing me with samples for this project.

I am grateful for the funding towards this project provided by the National Research Foundation (incentive funding) and the University of Pretoria (development funds).

Lastly, I would like to thank my five-year old daughter, Lehlogonolo Manamela for bringing a smile on my face during this tough journey. When I was tired and stressed, she was always there to comfort and put a smile on my face.

ABSTRACT

While a decrease of wild felid population has led to disruption of conservation programme, recent studies have shown the importance of immune regulation for determining health outcomes and co-infection. Immunoglobulin G is important for detecting and evaluating responses to infectious diseases and vaccination. But, there is limited information on felid immunoglobulins and their role for functional immunity.

This study aimed at isolating and characterizing lion's immunoglobulin G. Lions' sera (n = 68) were processed using the MagReSyn[®] magnetic beads and the final protein concentration was determined using the XposeTM Trinean Spectrophotometer. The cross-reactivity of goat anti-cat immunoglobulin with sera of lions and other species was analysed using ELISA. High cross-reactivity was observed in lions ranging from 87.7 to 100%, and low reactivity with rhino (22.4%) followed by chicken (0.01%). The protein concentration from purified sera yielded 39.09 mg/ml. Molecular weight of lion IgG 150-160 kDa was detected with both chains at 54-56 kDa and 24-26 kDa on SDS-PAGE. These results indicate a potential aid in developing serological tools to monitor exposure to micro-organisms of lions.

Key words: African lions, Panthera leo, Immunoglobulin G, ELISA, SDS-PAGE, Purification, Protein concentration, Cross-reactivity, Molecular weight

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

%	Percentage	
γ	Gamma	
°C	Degree Celsius	
hð	Microgram	
µg/ml	Microgram per millilitre	
μΙ	Microlitre	
µl/mg	Microlitre per milligram	
µl/ml	Microlitre per millilitre	
APS	Ammonium persulfate	
BCRs	B-cell receptors	
CD4+	Cluster of differentiation 4	
CD8+	Cluster of differentiation 8	
CDV	Canine distemper virus	
CL	Constant light region	
СМІ	Cell-mediated immunity	
CoViD-19	Corona-virus-disease 2019	
DAFF	Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries	
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	
DVTD	Department of Veterinary Tropical Diseases	
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay	
Fab	Fragment antigen- binding	
Fc	Fragment crystallizable region	
FCoV	Feline coronavirus	
FCV	Feline calicivirus	
FECV	Feline enteric coronavirus	

FHV	Feline herpes virus
FIPV	Feline infectious peritonitis virus
FIV	Feline immunodeficiency virus
FPLV	Feline panleukopenia virus
FV	Final value
Н	Heavy chain
H ₂ SO ₄	Sulphuric acid
НСТ	Haematocrit
HGB	Haemoglobin
Н	Humoral immunity
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
IFA	Indirect fluorescent antibody
IgA	Immunoglobulin A
lgD	Immunoglobulin D
IgE	Immunoglobulin E
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IgM	Immunoglobulin M
lgs	Immunoglobulins
IHA	Indirect haemagglutination assay
k	Карра
kDa	Kilo Daltons
km²	Square kilometre
KNP	Kruger National Park
L	Light chain
М	Molar
MCH	Mean corpuscular haemoglobin

MCHC	Mean corpuscular haemoglobin concentration		
MCV	Mean corpuscular volume		
Mg	Milligram		
mg/ml	Milligram per millilitre		
MI	Millilitre		
NaCl	Sodium chloride		
nM	Nanomolar		
OD	Optical density		
PBS	Phosphate buffered solution		
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction		
рН	Potential of Hydrogen		
PLT	Platelet		
PVs	Papillomaviruses		
RBC	Red blood cells		
RNA	Ribonucleic acid		
Rpm	Revolutions per minute		
SARS-CoV-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2		
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate		
SDS-PAGE	Sodium-dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis		
sp.	Species		
TEMED	Tetramethylethylenediamine		
ТМВ	3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine		
UNISA-CAES	University of South Africa- College of Agriculture and		
νн	Heavy chain variable domain		
VL	Light chain variable domain		

WBC	White blood cells
A	alpha
Δ	Delta
E	Epsilon
٨	Lambda
М	Mu

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	A brief overview of the immune system and functions	25
Figure 2:	Structure of an immunoglobulin molecule	27
Figure 3:	Map of South Africa and Zimbabwe	33
Figure 4:	SDS-PAGE analysis of purified lion IgG compared to cat IgG, Dog and lion crude serum	lgG 45

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Summary of parasites identified in African lions	22
Table 2:	SDS-PAGE 8 % gel preparation	38
Table 3:	Cross-reactivity of goat anti-cat immunoglobulin IgG with other an species crude sera	imal 42
Table 4:	Kruger National Park and Zimbabwe Lion elution fractions	43
Table 5:	Molecular weights (kDa) of lion and other species under reduced non-reduced conditions	and 44

Table of Contents

(Chapter 1: Literature Review	. 13
	1.1 Infectious diseases of lions	. 14
	1.1.1 Bacterial diseases of lions	. 14
	1.1.2 Viral diseases of lions	. 17
	1.1.3 Protozoal diseases of lions	. 19
	1.1.4 Other parasites of lions	. 21
	1.2 General immunology	. 23
	1.2.1 Innate immunity	. 23
	1.2.2 Adaptive immunity	. 23
	1.2.3 Passive and active immunity	. 24
	1.3 Immunoglobulins	. 25
	1.3.1 Immunoglobulin A	. 28
	1.3.2 Immunoglobulin D	. 28
	1.3.3 Immunoglobulin E	. 28
	1.3.4 Immunoglobulin G	. 29
	1.3.5 Immunoglobulin M	. 29
	1.4 Development of monoclonal antibodies	. 30
	1.5 Problem statement	. 31
	1.6 Aims and objectives	. 31
	1.7 Hypothesis	. 31
	1.8 Scope of dissertation	. 31
(CHAPTER 2: MATERIAL AND METHODS	. 33
	2.1 Study area	. 33
	2.2 Ethics and biosafety	. 34
	2.3 Study design and sampling	. 34
	2.4 Source of domestic cat, chicken, rhinoceros and dog serum	. 35
	2.5 Determination of protein concentration in lion, cat and chicken crude serum	. 35
	2.6 Determining cross-reactivity of goat anti-cat IgG (H+L) secondary antibody, horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugate with lion IgG using lion and cat crude	
	serum	. 35

2.7 Determination of cross-reactivity of Goat Anti-cat IgG HRP conjugate with lion IgG
2.8 Purification of cat and lion IgG from crude serum
2.9 SDS-PAGE (Sodium-dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) analysis of the purified lion, cat, dog IgG and lion crude serum
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS 41
3.1 Determination of protein concentration in lion, cat and chicken crude serum and purified IgG41
3.2 Determination of cross-reactivity of goat anti-cat IgG HRP conjugate with lion IgG and other species41
3.3 Determination of cross-reactivity of goat Anti-cat IgG HRP conjugate with purified lion IgG41
3.4 Purification of cat and lion IgG from crude serum
3.5 Characterization of lion, cat and dog IgG on SDS-PAGE
CHAPTER 4: Discussion
CHAPTER 5: Conclusions, Research challenges and Future perspectives
5.1 Conclusions
5.1.1 Determine cross-reactivity of current or available antibodies with lion IgG.
5.1.2 Purify cat and lion IgG from crude serum
5.1.3 Determine the molecular weight of lion IgG and the molecular weight of both the Fc and Fab fragments
5.2 Research challenges
5.3 Future perspectives
6. REFERENCES
7. APPENDICES

Chapter 1: Literature Review

Increasing anthropogenic pressure on economically and ecologically important domestic and wildlife species, as well as the recognition of certain species as a viable model for both human and animal diseases, has led to the expansion of animal health research worldwide (Broughton, 2017, Hassell et al., 2017). As these changes occurred, domestic species, including cats (*Felis catus*) have been used to study immune mechanisms for disease susceptibility, because of their social importance to humans as members of the family, as well as the analogous nature of their immune system to that of humans (Combes, 1996, Pastoret et al., 1998). However, while a large body of scientific evidence now exists to characterize most branches of the immune system in domestic cats, less is known about immune profiles of free-ranging felids, including lions (*Panthera leo*) due to the general inaccessibility of samples from these species.

Populations of wild felids are vulnerable and decreasing in their natural habitat. This is due to biosphere changes, prey depletion, human-lion conflict and exposure to infectious diseases of domestic animals, humans, and other wildlife species, which act as continual reservoirs of infection (Kelly et al., 1993, Thalwitzer et al., 2010, Brown, 2011, Packer et al., 2011, Riggio et al., 2013, Henschel et al., 2014, McDermid et al., 2017). In view of the above mentioned threats, understanding the immune mechanisms that may underlie disease susceptibility and provide protection against large scale population crashes in the face of disease outbreaks has become paramount (Dalerum et al., 2008, Ferreira et al., 2013). Hyenas like other predators that hunt and scavenge namely black backed jackal, have shown the ability to survive infectious diseases such as anthrax, rabies and other infectious diseases of carnivores (Bellan et al., 2012, Flies et al., 2012).

The Kruger National park (KNP) is one of the largest game reserves in Africa and covers an area of 19 485 km² (Joubert, 1986). This area is home to a diverse population of wild animals, which include small felids such as caracal (*Caracal caracal*), servals (*Leptailurus serval*) and African wild cats (*Felis lybica*) and large felids such as cheetahs (*Acinonyx jubatus*), leopards (*Panthera pardus*) and African lions (*Panthera leo*) (Fairall, 1968).

13

Cheetah and leopard populations in the park are decreasing due to their susceptibility to infectious diseases such as tuberculosis (Thalwitzer et al., 2010, Viljoen et al., 2015).

Lions have a relatively large population in the park compared to other felids, bolstered mostly by a higher rate of survival due to their affiliation with social groups (prides) consisting of more than one male, which provides protection for young and territory, as well as increased efficiency with regards to prey handling (Dalerum et al., 2008, Viljoen et al., 2015). In addition, they feed on a variety of prey species and have low water requirements due to their ability to meet hydration needs through consumption of water in prey tissues, conferring resistance against droughts in the face of large dieoffs of other species (Eloff, 1973, Funston et al., 1998). Despite this resilience, recent years have seen a decrease in lion populations due to increasing pressure from poachers along park boundaries, as well as local epizootics caused by diseases transmitted by sympatric species (Ferreira et al., 2013).

1.1 Infectious diseases of lions

Past studies investigating bacterial, viral, protozoal and other parasitic diseases in lions and other felid populations have shown KNP to have a high disease prevalence throughout various regions of the park (Antunes et al., 2008, Ferreira and Funston, 2010, Maas et al., 2010, Maas et al., 2012b, Broughton, 2017). Furthermore, recent studies have shown the importance of immune regulation for determining health outcomes and co-infection dynamics as regulated by viral and parasitic coinfections of known importance (Broughton, 2017). Despite these findings, there is limited information on felid immunoglobulins and their role for functional immunity in these threatened species.

1.1.1 Bacterial diseases of lions

Some bacteria species in the genera of *Bartonella, Mycobacterium* and *Mycoplasma* have been reported to cause disease in domestic cats and free-ranging lions (Viljoen et al., 2015, Molia et al., 2016).

Bartonellaceae are aerobic, gram-negative bacteria transmitted by vectors such as lice, flea, sandflies and ticks (Noguchi, 1926, Jacomo et al., 2002, Billeter et al., 2008, Chomel et al., 2009). The bacteria infect erythrocytes, endothelial cells and macrophages which leads to disease (Billeter et al., 2008). *Bartonellae* species such

as *Bartonella clarridgeiae* and *Bartonella koehlerae* have been isolated from animals and humans, and felids are found to be a source of infection (Molia et al., 2004). Cat scratch disease is the most common disease in domestic cats and other felids, including lions caused by *Bartonella henselae* (*B. henselae*) (*Pretorius et al., 2004, Chomel et al., 2006, Molia et al., 2016*). Clinical symptoms of *Bartonella* species include fever (in humans), swollen lymph nodes, endocarditis and neuroretinitis (Rotstein et al., 2000, Molia et al., 2004, Pretorius et al., 2004). In the study conducted by Molia et al. (2004), *B. henselae* was identified in both lions and cheetah by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using cultured colonies from whole blood pellets. *Bartonella henselae* was also isolated by culture and identified using PCR and ELISA in lions from three ranches in the Free State Province (Pretorius et al., 2004).

Mycobacterium bovis is a gram-positive rod-shaped bacterium, non-motile, aerobic, does not form any spores and is acid fast staining (Quinn et al., 1994). *M. bovis* organisms are slow growers and culture results can take up to 16 weeks to be confirmed as negative (Wadhwa and Mahajan, 2006). *Mycobacterium bovis, a* member of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex (MTBC), which also includes *M. tuberculosis*, *M. caprae*, *M. microti*, *M. africanum*, *M. canettii*, *M. pinnipedii*, *M. orygis*, *M. bovis*, bacilli Calmette-Guérin (BCG), *M. mungi*, *M. suricattae* and the dassie bacillus (Bass et al., 2013). *Mycobacterium bovis* causes tuberculosis in domestic and wild animals (Michel et al., 2010, Musoke et al., 2015).

There have been reports on African wildlife species infected with *M. bovis* since 1929. These include primates and non-primates (Keet et al., 1996, De Vos et al., 2001, Cleaveland et al., 2005, Michel et al., 2006, Trinkel et al., 2011, Viljoen et al., 2015). Tuberculosis was first detected in the 90's from African buffalo in the KNP and since then has spread to other parts of the park to a diverse number of wildlife species including lions (Michel et al., 2006, Viljoen et al., 2015). The route of exposure to other species including lions has been studied in detail and Miller et al. (2015) confirmed infection through the respiratory system using tracheobronchial lavage samples from the KNP lions.

M bovis in lions was first reported in the KNP in 1996 (Keet et al., 1996, Sylvester et al., 2017). Lions can contract an *M. bovis* infection by consuming infected prey, such as buffalo, the reservoir host of the disease in South Africa (Keet et al., 1996, Viljoen

et al., 2015). The main clinical symptom caused by *M bovis* in lions is emaciation and pulmonary and bone lesions post-mortem (Keet et al., 1996, Miller et al., 2019). The diagnosis of *M bovis* infection in lions has been documented and included post mortem examination, isolation on culture, microscopic examination and histopathology examination, immunological assays (ELISA, interferon-gamma assay and tuberculin skin test) and molecular tests (PCR) (Maas, 2011, Viljoen et al., 2015, Miller et al., 2019, Viljoen et al., 2019).

Bacillus anthracis is an aerobic or facultative anaerobic gram-positive bacterium that forms spores (Russell et al., 2008, Koehler, 2009). The bacteria is extracellular with an intracellular presence during pulmonary anthrax (Russell et al., 2008). The ubiquitous bacterium can survive for a long time in dried culture and can remain viable in soil for many years (Smith et al., 2000, Lembo et al., 2011, Steenkamp et al., 2018). Anthrax is a contagious disease of domestic, wild mammals and humans (Hugh-Jones and De Vos, 2002, Hampson et al., 2011). Anthrax in lions in KNP has been diagnosed and infection is through opening of carcass by scavengers, feeding from infected prey and drinking from infected water holes (Hugh-Jones and De Vos, 2002). The swelling of the head is one of the clinical signs observed in the early stages of infection in lions. Lions develop a strong (antibody) immunity to anthrax after the first few exposures. Histopathology, serologic testing (ELISA), bacterial culture and molecular techniques are used for identification of the bacteria (WHO, 2008, Range, 2011).

Clostridium is a gram-positive spore-forming anaerobic bacteria causing diseases in humans and animals (Rorbye et al., 2000, Greco et al., 2005). The natural habitat of *Clostridium* species are the soil, water and gastrointestinal tract of both animals and humans (Haagsma, 1991, Rorbye et al., 2000, De la Fe et al., 2006). *C.tetani, C. perfrigens, C. botulinum, C. septicum and C. bifermentans* are *Clostridium* species isolated from humans and animals (De la Fe et al., 2006). De la Fe et al. (2006) reported the first case of *C. sordellii* in lions. The clinical symptoms observed include ataxia, paralysis and exhaustion (Greenwood, 1985, De la Fe et al., 2006). Cases of *C. perfringens* and *C. sordellii* were also identified and isolated in other felines (Greco et al., 2005, Zhang et al., 2012). Polymerase chain reaction test, bacteriological culture, gram-stain technique and indirect fluorescent antibody (IFA)

test are often used to identify the bacteria (Greco et al., 2005, De la Fe et al., 2006, Zhang et al., 2012).

1.1.2 Viral diseases of lions

Diseases of wild carnivores have been studied worldwide with outcomes of most carnivores surviving other diseases (Flies et al., 2012). Wild felids are susceptible to many viruses (canine distemper virus, feline immunodeficiency virus, feline leukaemia virus, feline panleukopenia virus) affecting domestic cats and humans (Spencer, 1991, Endo et al., 2004, Dybas, 2009).

Feline panleukopenia virus (FPLV) belongs in the Parvoviridae family. FPLV is a single-stranded DNA virus of about 18 to 26 nm in diameter (Povey and Davis, 1977, Agbandje et al., 1993). Feline panleukopenia has been reported in lions and other species with the first report diagnosed from a leopard (Johnson, 1964, Povey and Davis, 1977, Spencer, 1991, Endo et al., 2004). Spencer (1991) then confirmed the occurrence of FPLV in free-ranging lions in the KNP.

Canine distemper virus (CDV) is a member in the family of *Paramyxoviridae*, genus *morbillivirus*. This enveloped single-stranded, negative sense RNA virus has viral attachment spikes (Bellini et al., 1986, De Vries et al., 2015, Rendon-Marin et al., 2019). As an infectious disease, canine distemper is recognized worldwide and has been reported in carnivores (Deem et al., 2000, Loots et al., 2018). Canine distemper disease was diagnosed in lions from the Serengeti National Park in Tanzania in the 90's using histopathology and serology test (Roelke-Parker et al., 1996). This outbreak in lions and other large felids resulted in the death and decline in the lion population (Roelke-Parker et al., 1996, Endo et al., 2004). In addition, large felines that are tested serologically for FPLV and CDV also have antibodies against feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV). The felids have extensive exposure to most of the common feline and canine viruses (Roelke-Parker et al., 1996, Endo et al., 2004, Driciru et al., 2006).

Gaskell et al. (2007) describe feline herpes virus (FHV) as an alpha herpesvirus of cats closely related to canine herpesvirus-1 and porcine herpesvirus-1. Hofmann-Lehmann et al. 1996 confirmed the prevalence of FHV in lions using Enzyme-linked

immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Feline herpes virus and other viruses (FIV, FCV, feline parvovirus, feline coronavirus and CDV) of felids were also diagnosed in lions of Serengeti and Tanzania in 1999. Feline leukaemia virus was not detected from the lions in the studies conducted using serological tests (Hofmann-Lehmann et al., 1996, Packer et al., 1999).

Feline calicivirus (FCV) is a small single-stranded, positive-sense RNA virus of cats and is widespread in the feline population (Maeda et al., 1998, Radford et al., 2007, Thiry et al., 2009, Henzel et al., 2015). The pathogen has been reported in African lions (Martella et al., 2007). Nasal, oral or conjunctival are routes of infection (Radford et al., 2007). Together with FHV, the pathogen is identified from cellular culture, IFA, serology and PCR (Henzel et al., 2015). The immune response against FCV infection depends on host factor and feline immune status (Radford et al., 2007, Henzel et al., 2015).

Feline immunodeficiency virus is a T-lymphotropic pathogenic lentivirus of domestic cats and has been detected in several non-domestic feline species (Callanan et al., 1992, VandeWoude et al., 1997, Roelke et al., 2006). The FIV causes immunosuppression in domestic cats (Brown et al., 1994, Roelke et al., 2009). It was discovered by (Pedersen et al., 1987) as the etiologic agent of an immunodeficiency syndrome in cats (Roelke et al., 2006). Studies have shown that FIV can infect lions (Brown et al., 1993, Brown et al., 1994, Poli et al., 1995, Hofmann-Lehmann et al., 1996, Troyer et al., 2005, Brennan et al., 2006, Roelke et al., 2006, Maas et al., 2012a). Free-ranging lions carry the FIV (lion) (FIV-Ple), which is the chronic species-specific strain of FIV (Troyer et al., 2005, Roelke et al., 2009). In most studies, serological tests (ELISA, IFA, Western Blot techniques) are conducted to detect the antibodies to FIV (Hofmann-Lehmann et al., 1996). Molecular cloning and complete nucleotide sequencing are also used (Olmsted et al., 1989, Poli et al., 1995, McEwan et al., 2008). Immune (CD4+ T-lymphocytes) depletion is recorded as one of the pathological conditions related to lentivirus infections (Roelke et al., 2009).

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) which causes corona-virus-disease (CoViD-19) in humans was also detected in some animals (Newman et al., 2020, Sit et al., 2020). It is a single-stranded positive sense RNA virus with spike proteins (Newman et al., 2020, Sit et al., 2020) and appears spherical

in shape (Tufan et al., 2020). The Wildlife Conservation Society's Bronx Zoo in New York reported the first natural infection case of SARS-CoV-2 cases in lions and tigers. Zoo keepers, who tested positive for the infection, have transmitted the virus to the animals since they had close contact with the animals (McAloose et al., 2020). African lions are also reported to be infected with feline coronavirus (FCoV), a contagious pathogen of domestic and non-domestic Felidae (Kennedy et al., 2002, Kennedy et al., 2003, Stephenson et al., 2013). The two forms of FCoV include feline enteric coronavirus (FECV) which causes intestinal infection in young felids (Pedersen et al., 1981) and feline infectious peritonitis virus (FIPV) causing feline infectious peritonitis (FIP), a fatal immune-mediated vasculitis of felids (Poland et al., 1996, Kennedy et al., 2003, Stephenson et al., 2013). Clinical symptoms associated with FCov infection are fever, weight loss and chronic diarrhoea (Kennedy et al., 2002, Stephenson et al., 2013). PCR and IFA are mostly used to identify the virus (Kennedy et al., 2002, Kennedy et al., 2003, Stephenson et al., 2013).

Papillomaviruses (PVs) are small, non-enveloped, double-stranded DNA viruses. They are highly species specific pathogens of felids (Sundberg et al., 2000, Rector et al., 2007). All PVs belong to the Lambda papillomavirus genus (Rector et al., 2007). The infected species develop localised proliferative lesions caused by injection of the infectious virions through the skin surface. Papillomaviruses are also thought to cause feline sarcoids, a cutaneous fibropapilloma (Carney et al., 1990, Hanna and Dunn, 2003). This virus was identified in Persian cats using electron microscopy technique and immunohistochemical analysis (Carney et al., 1990). In 2000, (Sundberg et al.) reported feline papillomavirus in six cat species (*Felis domesticus, Felis concolor, Felis rufus, Panthera leo, Panthera uncia* and *Neofelis nebulosa*) using histological and immunohistochemistry techniques. The cat lesions had similar clinical appearance to those in humans.

1.1.3 Protozoal diseases of lions

Protozoan parasites, such as *Leishmania*, *Giardia*, *Cryptosporidium* and *Toxoplasma* parasites are found in felids. These parasites can be transmitted via consumption of either undercooked food or contaminated water and arthropod vectors (Bjork et al., 2000, Otranto et al., 2015).

Toxoplasma gondii is a coccidian parasite of felids and humans and is divided into three stages, the tachyzoites, bradyzoites and sporozoites. In the tachyzoites stage, the parasites enter the host cell and multiply rapidly. Bradyzoites include the slow multiplication of cysts within the tissue and sporozoites stage occur in the oocysts and sporulation occurs (Dubey et al., 1998, Tenter et al., 2000). Felids are the only known definitive hosts of Toxoplasma gondii shedding oocysts in the environment and providing the infection to other warm-blooded animal species (Lappin et al., 1991, Yang et al., 2017, Ferra et al., 2020). Riemann et al. (1975) reported the first case of Toxoplasma gondii in a lion from Serengeti National Park, Tanzania. The lion was seropositive to Toxoplasma gondii using indirect haemagglutination assay (IHA) (Penzhorn et al., 2002). Toxoplasma gondii and Neospora caninum are closely related parasites of felines and canids (Kamga-Waladjo, 2009, Pedrosa, 2018). The two parasites were investigated in lions using serum samples for ELISA to examine antibodies against Toxoplasma gondii and Neospora caninum, respectively. The serological results indicated more exposure to Neospora caninum than Toxoplasma gondii. Agglutination test and PCR are also used to detect the presence of Toxoplasma gondii (Kamga-Waladjo, 2009). Lions, like other felids are the only definitive hosts of Toxoplasma gondii. The oocysts shed in the faeces provide an infection in various warm-blooded animal species (Yang et al., 2017). The infection of protozoan parasite remains prevalent in lions and other wild felids (Ferreira et al., 2019, Seltmann et al., 2020).

Cryptosporidium and Giardia are parasites that can infect domestic animals, wild animals and humans causing diarrhoea and other enteric disorders. The transmission of these parasites is by pollution from faecal material of both humans and animals. Molecular tests have shown that both strains of *Cryptosporidium and Giardia* are found in captive and free-ranging wildlife animals (Appelbee et al., 2005).

Babesia are tick-transmitted hemoprotozoans that infect mammals and birds (Schnittger et al., 2012). Penzhorn et al. (2001) reported the first characterization of felid babesia parasite in lions using PCR. Various wild carnivores have been reported to have *babesia*. *Babesia* species have also been described from different animal species namely dogs, mongoose, hyena, racoons, rhinoceros, elephants, Bovidae, Cervidae and felids. All the lions in the KNP tested during the study were found to be

infected with *Babesia leo* (Penzhorn, 2006). *Babesia* was also reported in the lions of the Serengeti in Tanzania as a threat to the future of lions (Dybas, 2009).

Other vector borne diseases are transmitted by Ixodid ticks, ectoparasites also found in wild felids. *Amblyoma sp, Hyalomma sp.* and *Rhipicephalus sp.* were identified in wild felids, including lions. In the study by Horak et al. (2010) cats and wild felids were concluded as good hosts for *Hyalomma elliptica* (Horak et al., 2010).

1.1.4 Other parasites of lions

Other parasites in African lions have been reported across Africa (Bjork et al., 2000, Hüttner et al., 2008). The table below summarises the studies on micro and macro parasites of African lions. Bjork et al. (2000) identified 19 different parasites from the free-ranging African lions in the Serengeti national park and Ngorongoro conservation area. Freshly defecated faecal samples were collected. The study indicated that the structures of cestode and trematode studied could have originated from other animal species and do not all represent the true parasite of lions.
 Table 1: Summary of parasites identified in African lions

Parasite	Place	Samples	Tests conducted
Cestoda			
Spirometra sp.	Serengeti and Ngorongoro Crater, Tanzania	Faeces	Egg counts
Echinococcus felidis	Uganda	Faeces	Egg counts and nuclear DNA sequencing
<i>Taenia</i> sp.	Tanzania	Faeces	Egg counts
Anoplocephalidae	Serengeti and Ngorongoro Crater, Tanzania	Faeces	Egg counts
Trematoda			
<i>Trichuris</i> sp.	Serengeti and Ngorongoro Crater, Tanzania	Faeces	Egg counts
Nematoda			
Dirofilaria	Aitana Safari Park, Spain	Tissue (Lung)	Histological technique
Aelurostrongylus sp	Serengeti and Ngorongoro Crater, Tanzania	Faeces	Egg counts
<i>Trichinella</i> sp.	Greater Kruger National Park, South Africa	various	Various
<i>Capillaria</i> sp.	Serengeti and Ngorongoro Crater, Tanzania	Faeces	Egg counts
Habronema sp.	Serengeti and Ngorongoro Crater, Tanzania	Faeces	Egg counts
Others			
Acanthocephala	Serengeti and Ngorongoro Crater, Tanzania	Faeces	Egg counts
Demodex sp.	Serengeti and Ngorongoro Crater, Tanzania	Faeces	Egg counts
<i>Eimeria</i> sp.	Serengeti and Ngorongoro Crater, Tanzania	Faeces	Egg counts
Isospora sp.	Serengeti and Ngorongoro Crater, Tanzania	Faeces	Egg counts

2008)

1.2 General immunology

Recent studies have shown the importance of immune regulation for determining health outcomes and coinfection dynamics as regulated by viral and parasitic coinfections of known importance (Broughton, 2017). Despite these findings, there is limited information on felid immunoglobulins and their role for functional immunity in these threatened species.

Delves and Roitt (2000) describe the immune system as a collection of cells and molecules that help protect against infection (Parham, 2014). It has two major arms, innate immunity which is present from birth and adaptive immunity which develops from birth and continues to do so as the individual is exposed to different antigens during its lifetime (Roitt et al., 1989, Beutler, 2004, Turvey and Broide, 2010). Microbial infections are recognised by the innate immune system to produce immediate defence and to also generate a long-lasting adaptive immunity (Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2015).

1.2.1 Innate immunity

Innate immunity represents the principal defence machinery in vertebrates. It responds in minutes and hours of an antigen appearance to the body. It is non-specific and does not exhibit memory. It is the first line of defence that fights any foreign invaders and is found in organisms such as insects and plants (Roitt et al., 1989, Tizard Ian, 1996, Bonilla and Oettgen, 2010).

1.2.2 Adaptive immunity

Adaptive immunity also known as specific immunity is a lymphocyte dependent immune system with various antigen receptors and exhibits immunologic memory. Adaptive immunity consists of cell-mediated immunity (CMI) and humoral immunity (HI). Cell-mediated immunity is mediated by T-cells and targets intracellular-pathogens. In CMI, the effector phase is initiated by T-cells recognizing the peptide-Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) antigens on activated antigen presenting cells. These cells play a role in eliminating microbes and other sources of antigen by, stimulating inflammation through secretion of cytokines and killing pathogen infected cells and phagocytosed and extracellular microbes. There are two response types of CMI, the CD4+ helper T-cell which respond to microbes that infect and replicate

intracellularly in various cell types (Roitt et al., 1989, Bonilla and Oettgen, 2010, Tubo and Jenkins, 2014).

Humoral immunity is mediated by antibodies and targets extra-cellular pathogens. During HI, antibodies are secreted by activated B-lymphocytes (plasma cells) and bind to an antigen. The antigen will then be neutralized, and phagocytosis will take place. Adaptive or active immunity can be stimulated by an infectious agent or by immunization/ vaccination. This is in contrast to passive immunity conferred by antibodies present in body fluids, which can be transferred to another individual to provide protection (Roitt et al., 1989, Bonilla and Oettgen, 2010).

1.2.3 Passive and active immunity

Immunity is the state of resistance to an infection and has both specific and nonspecific mechanisms. The state of resistance to an infection can be acquired by passive or active immunity (Tizard Ian, 1996).

1.2.3.1 Passive immunity

During passive immunization, antibodies are transferred from a resistant animal to a susceptible animal for immediate protection against an antigen such as, antibody transfer naturally from mother to baby via placenta and from breast milk/ colostrum or artificially from an immune donor. It can also be induced artificially where antibodies produced in a donor animal by active immunisation are administered to susceptible animals for immediate immune protection (Roitt et al., 1989, Tizard Ian, 1996).

1.2.3.2 Active immunity

Active immunity is induced after the administration of antigen to an animal to provide a long lasting protective immune response. There are two types of active immunity, natural and artificial immunity. Natural immunity is activated after exposure to the antigen and happens naturally. Artificial immunity is induced after a vaccine is administered and the animal develops its own antibodies. Vaccinations are made of specific antigens; they are administered to protect animals against infectious diseases and generate an active immune response. Exposure of disease results in cells of the animal's immune system interacting with the organism, therefore antigen producing cells must be stimulated followed by stimulation of B-cells and T-cells to produce large number of memory cells (Roitt et al., 1989, Tizard Ian, 1996).



Figure 1: A brief overview of the immune system and functions (Roitt et al., 1989, Tizard Ian, 1996, Tizard, 2013).

1.3 Immunoglobulins

The immunoglobulins (Igs), also called antibodies, are a group of glycoproteins found in serum, plasma and tissue fluids of all mammals. The major proteins found in blood are fibrinogen (only in plasma), globulins and albumins. The maturity of the B-cells takes place in the bone marrow and then develop into lymphocytes responsible for antibody production and plasma cells in response to an antigen. B-cells express proteins (immunoglobulins) on their cell surfaces. The B-cell receptors (BCRs) are formed by immunoglobulins and secrete the same immunoglobulins circulating as antibodies. These immunoglobulins bind to a specific antigen (Gally, 1973, Nisonoff, 1983, Tizard Ian, 1996, Frank, 2002, Bhattacharya, 2008).

The basic structure of an Ig consists of disulphide bonds and four polypeptide chains, the two light chains (L) and the two heavy chains (H) containing variable regions (V_H or V_L) at the N terminal. The C terminal is part of the constant region. The light chains have a molecular mass of 25 000 Daltons and the heavy chains have 70 000 Daltons. The light chain and heavy chain are linked by a disulphide bond to form an H-L bond. The two H-L bonds are then connected by another disulphide bond to form a full

structure of immunoglobulin (Neoh et al., 1973, Huse et al., 2002, Bhattacharya, 2008, Schroeder Jr and Cavacini, 2010).

The IgG molecule as shown in figure 2 consists of two identical fragments, antigen binding (Fab) region; the antigen binding site and one Fc (fragment, crystallisable) region both connected by a hinge region which allows the distance between the two antigen-binding sites to vary and is found only in IgG, IgA and IgD. IgM and IgE lack the hinge region, instead each have an additional constant domain. Each of the Fab regions consists of two domains, the V_H-V_L and C_H1-C₁ whereas the Fc region has two or three domains (Tizard Ian, 1996, Bhattacharya, 2008).

The amino acid sequence found in the light chain on the N-terminal are different hence called the variable light region (V_L). Half of the amino acid sequence on the C-terminal of each light chain are identical and called the constant light region (C_L) with two types the kappa (κ) and the lambda (λ) light chains (Tizard Ian, 1996, Bhattacharya, 2008). Bhattacharya (2008) reported that, in humans, the heavy chain of the IgG consists of about 445 amino acids with 115 at the N-terminal and the remaining 330 at the constant heavy chain region. This sequence corresponds to the five different heavy chains, alpha (α), epsilon (ϵ), mu (μ), delta (δ) and gamma heavy chains (γ) to define the classes of the immunoglobulins (Tizard Ian, 1996, Bhattacharya, 2008).



Figure 2: Structure of an immunoglobulin molecule (Tizard Ian, 1996).

There are five major classes of heterodimeric proteins called immunoglobulins (IgA, IgD, IgE, IgG and IgM) (Tizard Ian, 1996, Huse et al., 2002). Immunoglobulins are responsible for humoral immunity, which is a branch of the adaptive (specific) immune system used largely for adaptive immune memory; opsonisation (identification) of foreign pathogenic and parasitic invaders; and neutralization of small invading pathogens and toxins (Tizard Ian, 1996, Sommer, 2005, Tizard, 2013, Moticka, 2015, Tao and Xu, 2016). In general, immunoglobulins can be found in serum, on the surface of cells, and in secretory fluids such as colostrum, bronchial exudates, saliva, and nasal secretions (Lieberman, 2002). In cats and dogs, IgG and IgA are found in high concentration in colostrum, which is the "first mammary secretion rich in antibodies" that the kittens and or puppies receive after birth. IgG is found in higher concentrations in feline milk whereas IgA is found in higher concentrations in canine milk (Heddle and Rowley, 1975, Casal et al., 1996, Day, 2007). In 1973, (Neoh et al.) studied the immunoglobulins of humans, artiodactyls, perissodactyla, proboscidea, pinnipedia, lagomorpha, rodentia, marsupalia, and carnivores using chicken antisera. Findings of that study showed evidence of high cross-reactivity between species, with

every animal tested, including lions and cheetahs, showing profiles predominated by IgG (Vaerman et al., 1969, Neoh et al., 1973). Anti-cat isotype-specific antibodies are commercially available to assess cross-reactivity in lions, as they are evolutionarily related to cats (Flies et al., 2012).

1.3.1 Immunoglobulin A

The discovery of immunoglobulin A (IgA) based on mucosal immunity was introduced by Joe Heremans in 1959 (Tomasi, 1992, McDermid et al., 2017). The individual IgA molecules have a molecular weight of 150 kDa (Tizard Ian, 1996). Immunoglobulin A is secreted by plasma cells on the mucosal surfaces of the eyes, mammary glands, respiratory tract, skin and urogenital areas for protection against invading microorganisms. It consists of about 10% to 15% of the total serum concentration and normally secreted in a dimer form (Tizard Ian, 1996, Bhattacharya, 2008).

1.3.2 Immunoglobulin D

The immunoglobulin study from myeloma patients introduced another type of Ig, immunoglobulin D (IgD) by David Rowe and John Fahey (Rowe et al., 1973, Preud'homme et al., 2000). Immunoglobulin D is detected in low concentrations in plasma, less than 1% of the total serum concentration is found but not in all species. Immunoglobulin D together with IgM are expressed by mature B-cells. Immunoglobulin D molecule consists of two delta heavy chains and two light chains, kappa or lambda chains lacking inter-chain disulphide bonds with a molecular weight of about 170 kDa (Tizard Ian, 1996, Bhattacharya, 2008).

1.3.3 Immunoglobulin E

Immunoglobulin E (IgE) was discovered by Kimishige and Teruko Ishizaka in the 1960s (Ribatti, 2016). The study was based on antibody involving allergic reaction releasing histamine and this has led to the findings on treatment for patients with allergy and improvement on allergy diagnosis (Johansson, 2011, Ribatti, 2016). Immunoglobulin E is found in low concentrations in serum with a molecular weight of 190 kDa (Tizard Ian, 1996). Immunoglobulin E is made by plasma cells on the surface of mast cells in the tissues. It is found in low concentrations in serum and can only act as a signal-transducing molecule. The Fc region binds strongly to receptors on mast cells and basophils releasing inflammatory agents such as histamine to eliminate the pathogen. Immunoglobulin E has the shortest half-life of all the immunoglobulins (2

to 3 days) and a mild heat treatment can destroy it easily (Tizard Ian, 1996, Bhattacharya, 2008).

1.3.4 Immunoglobulin G

Immunoglobulin G (IgG) shown in figure 2 is the most common immunoglobulin with the highest concentration in serum and plays a major role in the antibody-mediated defence mechanisms as a type of passive immunity (Tizard Ian, 1996, Bhattacharya, 2008). The structure of IgG (Fc and Fab fragments) was discovered by Rodney Porter using the enzyme papain (Porter, 1973). Gerald Edelman then discovered the four chains (heavy and light chains) of immunoglobulins (Porter, 1973, Raju, 1999). Immunoglobulin G can also promote phagocytosis by binding to a molecule using Fc receptors (opsonisation) (Nezlin, 2017). It can agglutinate, precipitate antigen and activate the pathway of complement when there are sufficient molecules accumulated. It has a molecular weight of about 180 kDa and can easily escape from blood vessels (Tizard Ian, 1996, Bhattacharya, 2008).

1.3.5 Immunoglobulin M

Immunoglobulin M (IgM) is the first immunoglobulin produced among other immunoglobulins. The main function of IgM has the ability to bind to multiple foreign antigens (Zhou et al., 2007, Ehrenstein and Notley, 2010, Dimitrov et al., 2013) . Immunoglobulin M is secreted by plasma cells and found in the second highest concentration after the IgG in serum. It constitutes of about 5% to 10% of the total serum concentration. IgM is made of five monomeric units linked by disulphide bonds with a molecular weight of 900 kDa. It is produced in the primary response to an antigen and considered as the strongest complement activator, for opsonisation, neutralization of viruses and for agglutination due to its large size (Tizard Ian, 1996, Bhattacharya, 2008).

1.4 Development of monoclonal antibodies

According to Capers (2006), one can use the immunoglobulin purification techniques that have been used previously for purifying the immunoglobulin of other species to study the immune system of different unstudied species. Commercial antisera developed against the immunoglobulins of humans, mice, dogs and sheep are available. These species' immunoglobulins have been studied in detail and can limit the time in developing new antisera (Capers, 2006).

(Cavagnolo and Vedros, 1978, Azwai et al., 1993, Kelly et al., 1998) in their studies performed an immunosorbent assay for cross-reactivity using different monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies produced against different immunoglobulin classes and subclasses of different animals. There was no cross-reaction between the monoclonal antibodies and the immunoglobulin of African elephant (*Loxodonta africana*) and camel (*Camelus dromedarius*). The polyclonal antibodies cross-reacted with the African elephant and camel immunoglobulin, concluding the similarities of African elephant and camel immunoglobulin G (IgG) to that of other mammalian species (Azwai et al., 1993, Kelly et al., 1998).

Characterization of the IgG is a first step in developing the immunology toolbox in lions and further isolate the other antibodies and identify the immune functions of these antibodies. One end goal is to develop tools for diagnostic purposes since serology is an easy way to survey for disease. The use of serology as a tool for surveillance and epidemiological modelling of wildlife diseases has become important hence it is crucial to consider the strength and the limitations of serological assays and the interpretation of results mostly when using data for prevention and control of infectious diseases in wildlife. The ecology of infectious wildlife diseases has become critical in the animal and public health (Gilbert et al., 2013). In most cases, diseases are often diagnosed based on serological tests, as they are effective and simple (Kelly et al., 1993, El-Hewairy, 2012).

Therefore, in this study we focused on the isolation and characterization of IgG (commonly referred to as antibodies) as the major components of HI in lions using anti-cat IgG in determining the level of cross-reactivity. Sodium-dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) was further used to determine the

molecular weight of lion IgG. These findings will add to the immunology toolbox in assessing the health of captive and non-captive individuals and populations.

1.5 Problem statement

The decrease in wild felid population caused by poaching, drought and diseases such as bovine tuberculosis (BTB), FIV and other microbial diseases has disrupted conservation programs (Donnelly et al., 2003, Ferreira and Funston, 2010, Maas et al., 2010). Past studies investigating these threats have shown that the Kruger National Park (KNP) has a high disease prevalence throughout various regions of the park (Antunes et al., 2008, Ferreira and Funston, 2010, Maas et al., 2010, Maas et al., 2012b, Broughton, 2017). However, there is unknown or limited information on the feline immune system and the diagnostic tests and/or tools are required to increase knowledge on wild felid immunoglobulins.

1.6 Aims and objectives

The aim of the study is to isolate and characterize lion IgG.

The objectives of the study are to:

- Determine cross-reactivity of current or available conjugates with crude and purified lion IgG.
- Purify cat and lion IgG from crude serum.
- Determine the molecular weight of lion IgG and the molecular weight of both the Fc and Fab fragments.

1.7 Hypothesis

- Goat anti-cat IgG cross-reacts with lion IgG.
- The IgG molecular weight of lion is similar to the molecular weight of cat IgG.

1.8 Scope of dissertation

The general purpose of the study is to increase information on the feline immune system. There is very little information about the IgG of lions and serological diagnostic tests. In 1998 (Kelly et al.) conducted a study on the isolation and characterization of African elephant IgG. The recent study on the hyena immunology toolbox was conducted by (Flies et al., 2012) where sera from hyena was purified. The purified IgG was then used for cross-reactivity studies and determination of the molecular

weight. In this study, the approach will be similar but limited to the characterization of the lion IgG molecule.

African lion sera from South Africa (KNP and Game Reserve in the North West Province) and Zimbabwe were used in the study. All samples were processed at the University of Pretoria, Department of Veterinary Tropical Diseases (DVTD) laboratories. The duration of the experimental work was completed in six months. In this study, a direct ELISA is used to determine the percentage of cross-reactivity against cat IgG and lion IgG using goat anti-cat IgG (H+L) antibody, horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugate. The level of cross-reactivity can depend on the crude serum dilutions and/or purified IgG and the dilution of the conjugate. The assay is limited to quality of samples. Fresh samples (stored for less than a year) are required for pure IgG isolation. Furthermore, the molecular weight of lion IgG is determined by using SDS-PAGE and protein molecular markers.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1 Study area

Lion serum samples were obtained from the KNP, a private nature reserve in North West province, South Africa and three private reserves in Harare, Zimbabwe as shown in figure 3. The lions in the KNP are free-ranging (roaming freely and hunting for prey) whereas they were captive (kept in confined space and fed selected meat) in Harare private reserves and in the private reserve based in North West Province.

The serum samples from a free-ranging population in the KNP were sourced from a biological bank. The serum samples from Zimbabwe were opportunistic samples and available to be used in the study with permission granted from the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF). The lions from a private game reserve in North West Province had a similar set up to the lions kept in Zimbabwe and serum samples were provided to contribute to the research.



Figure 3: Map of South Africa and Zimbabwe (South African National Parks, 2020)

2.2 Ethics and biosafety

The ethics approval for the project was obtained from University of South Africa-College of Agriculture and Environmental Sciences, Animal Research Ethics Committee (UNISA-CAES) with reference number: 2018/CAES/064. Approval was also obtained from the University of Pretoria, Animal Ethics Committee (project number V023-18). The Section 20 approval for study was obtained from the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF) with reference number 12/11/1/16 (1277) and 12/11/1/16 (643) (see appendix).

2.3 Study design and sampling

Lion serum samples (*n*=12) from Zimbabwe were collected using 9 ml serum vacutainer tubes via venipuncture of the jugular vein. The blood samples were kept cool (on ice) during transportation to the laboratory and stored overnight in the fridge (4°C). The next day, the supernatant was separated by centrifugation at 3200 rpm for 10 minutes and stored at -80°C. Batched samples were transported to the research and training laboratories at the Department of Veterinary Tropical Diseases (DVTD), University of Pretoria, South Africa on dry ice and immediately stored at -80°C until use (Vhoko, 2018). These samples were initially collected for another study in 2016 (Vhoko, 2018) and permission was granted by the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF) to use these samples for this project.

The whole blood samples from all lions captured in the KNP from 2014 to 2018 (*n*=40) were kept cool (4°C) and transported to the Veterinary Wildlife Services laboratory and processed within eight hours after collection. Blood samples were centrifuged using Hermle centrifuge for 10 minutes at 2500 rpm. After centrifugation, the supernatant (serum) was dispensed in 4 ml cryo tubes using disposable pipettes then stored in freezers at -20°C and/or -80°C for future veterinary research projects. A clean disposable pipette was used for each sample to avoid cross contamination.

Whole blood from lions in a private reserve in the North West Province (n=16) was collected and taken to the laboratory for processing in 2019. The samples were left in the fridge for an hour before centrifugation for 10 minutes at 2800 rpm. The supernatant (serum) was then pipetted into cryo tubes and stored in a -20°C freezer for a month prior to use.

2.4 Source of domestic cat, chicken, rhinoceros and dog serum

Serum from the donor cat at the Onderstepoort Veterinary Academic Hospital was collected and used as a control in the ELISA to determine cross-reactivity. Chicken serum was obtained from the serology laboratory of the DVTD, as a control serum to include in the ELISA to determine cross-reactivity. These sources of rhinoceros and dog serum samples were included in the ELISA to determine the percentage cross-reactivity with anti-cat IgG and compare them to the % cross-reactivity of anti-cat IgG to lion IgG.

2.5 Determination of protein concentration in lion, cat and chicken crude serum

The protein concentration of lion, cat and chicken IgG in crude serum was determined using the XposeTM Trinean Spectrophotometer. Individual samples were diluted in phosphate buffered solution (1XPBS). The concentration was determined by first diluting the serum (1:200) in PBS and then placing 2 μ I of this solution on an Xpose slide. Phosphate buffered solution was used as a control. The total protein concentration (mg/ml) was determined on the XposeTM Trinean Spectrophotometer and the absorbance of the protein was measured at 280 nm. The following calculations were used to work out the concentration of serum and IgG. For serum protein concentration, $1_{A280} = 1$ mg/ml and for IgG concentration, $1.35_{A280} = 1$ mg/ml. To determine the original concentration of the crude serum, the value obtained after the measurement was multiplied by the dilution factor (x200). The total protein and the serum concentration of 10 µg/ml were then used to calculate the final serum volume using the formula C₁V₁ /C₂V₂ as shown in Appendix 3.

2.6 Determining cross-reactivity of goat anti-cat IgG (H+L) secondary antibody, horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugate with lion IgG using lion and cat crude serum

To determine cross-reactivity and the optimal coating concentration of the crude serum, an in-house direct ELISA was developed. MaxiSorpTM (Nunc) 96-well plates with high protein binding capacity were used. These plates were coated with different concentrations of the crude serum: 10 µg/ml, 5 µg/ml, 2.5 µg/ml and 0 µg/ml. Each sample was run eight times. After coating, the plates were placed in a Biosan environmental shaker-incubator ES-20 at 150 rpm for 10 minutes at room temperature, and incubated overnight at 4°C. The coating buffer was discarded the next day, and
the plates were washed twice with a wash buffer (PBS + 0.05% Tween 20) using a wash bottle. Blocking buffer (300 µl 2% fat free milk powder in PBS + 0.05% Tween 20) was added to the wells of the plates, followed by incubation at 150 rpm for 1 hour at 37°C in a shaking incubator. After incubation, the washing step was repeated. To determine if polyclonal goat anti-cat IgG (H+L) secondary antibody, horseradish peroxidase conjugate (Invitrogen) cross-reacted with lion IgG, the conjugate used in the ELISA was diluted as follows: 1:10 000 and 1:20 000. One hundred microliter of the conjugate was added. The incubation step was repeated followed by a wash step which was performed five times using the wash buffer. The liquid substrate 3, 3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine (100 µl) (TMB, T4444 Sigma-Aldrich) was added to wells of the plates and incubated for two minutes. The reaction was stopped with 50 µl of 2 M Sulphuric acid (2M H₂SO₄). The plates were then read at 450 nm using Biotek Power wave XS2 plate reader and the data were exported to an Excel spreadsheet for analysis using Gen 5 software. The results were used to determine the percentage of cross-reactivity of the different species serum samples. The average mean optical density (OD) value of each test sample (lion, rhinoceros and chicken) was subtracted from the average mean OD value of the negative control (PBS) to determine the final OD. The following formula was used to determine the percentage cross-reactivity of the goat anti-cat antibody to lion IgG in crude serum. Cross-reactivity % = Optical density of test samples ÷ Optical density of the cat X 100.

Cross-reactivity % = OD test sample / ODcat X 100

2.7 Determination of cross-reactivity of Goat Anti-cat IgG HRP conjugate with lion IgG

To determine cross-reactivity against purified lion IgG using ELISA, the following optimal conditions were used for lion and cat IgG as mentioned previously: $1\mu g/ml$, 0.1 $\mu g/ml$, 0.01 $\mu g/ml$, 0.001 $\mu g/ml$ and 0 $\mu g/ml$. A MaxiSorpTM plate was coated with purified IgG from lion and cat serum. A similar method as mentioned previously for performing ELISA was used.

2.8 Purification of cat and lion IgG from crude serum

For the purification of the IgG, a commercial kit, MagReSyn[®] Protein A magnetic beads (ReSyn Biosciences[™] MR-PRA005, Separations) with strong binding capacity for cat IgG was used. The protocol was followed according to the manufacturer's instructions.

The MagReSyn[®] Protein A was supplied as a 15 mg/ml-1 suspension in TBS (50 mM), Tris pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl with 0.025% Tween[®] 20 and 0.05% sodium azide as a preservative. The magnetic beads were gently vortexed using Labnet vortex mixer. The shipping solution was removed, and magnetic beads equilibrated in binding buffer (1 X PBS) before use. MagReSyn[®] Protein A magnetic beads were gently vortexed and 50 µl was pipetted into four 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes. The four tubes were placed on a ReSyn Biosciences[™] magnetic separator allowing the magnetic beads to clear. The supernatant was discarded. The Eppendorf tubes containing magnetic beads were placed on a rack and 300 µl of binding or wash buffer (1 X PBS) was added and incubated at room temperature for one minute, then the supernatant discarded. The washing or binding steps were repeated to a total of three washing or binding steps.

For immunoglobulin purification from lion and cat sera, nine parts binding buffer were used to dilute the pooled lion and cat serum samples. Pooled crude lion sera to increase the volume required for the purification of the lion IgG samples and cat sera were diluted each 1:10 in 1X PBS and 1 ml of this dilution was transferred to four Eppendorf tubes with the equilibrated MagReSyn Protein A, sealed with parafilm to avoid leakage and incubated at room temperature on a Labnet Rocker 25 at 90 rpm for one hour to improve binding efficiency. After incubation, the tubes were placed on a magnetic separator allowing the magnetic beads to clear, the resulting supernatants would be used to determine the binding efficiency after running the samples on SDS-PAGE. The magnetic beads were washed three times with 500 µl of 1 X PBS. Following each wash, the tubes were placed on a magnetic separator allowing the three times were pooled and placed in a tube labelled wash step 1 for SDS-PAGE analysis.

Elution of the captured Immunoglobulins

The captured immunoglobulins were eluted by adding 50 µl of the elution buffer (glycine pH 2.8) to the purified MagReSyn Protein A magnetic beads in four Eppendorf tubes and mixed thoroughly. The solution was incubated for 2 minutes allowing the captured IgG to elute from the magnetic beads. The tubes were placed on a magnetic separator allowing the magnetic beads to clear. The supernatants were collected in four different elution fractions (elution 1, elution 2, elution 3 and elution 4) containing

5 μ I of 1 M Tris buffer pH 9.0 to neutralize the reaction. These fractions would be analysed on SDS-PAGE. The magnetic beads were washed 3 times with 1 x PBS. The supernatant from the washes were pooled and placed in a tube labelled wash step 2 for SDS-PAGE analysis.

Dialysis and concentration of samples

After the purification of lion IgG using the MegResyn A magnetic beads, 400 µl of the eluate was added to a Vivaspin Centrifugal Concentrator (VS0131 - Sartorius Vivaspin 500, 50 000 MWCO) and the eluate was centrifuged at 11 050 rcf for 10 minutes. This was then followed by the desalting step to remove the buffers used during the elution of the IgG from the magnetic beads. For the desalting step, 450 µl of PBS was added to the concentrator, then centrifuged at 11 050 rcf for 10 minutes. The desalting steps were performed three times. After the completion of the desalting steps, the final protein concentration was determined using the Xpose[™] Trinean Spectrophotometer. The protein was stored at 4°C until use in the SDS-PAGE analysis.

2.9 SDS-PAGE (Sodium-dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) analysis of the purified lion, cat, dog IgG and lion crude serum

The SDS-PAGE analysis was performed according to Laemmli (1970). The gels were prepared as shown in Table 2.

8% Separating	Gel	Stacking Gel			
Reagents	Volume	Reagents	Volume		
Distilled water	4.6 ml	Distilled water	3.4 ml		
30% Acrylamide mix	2.7 ml	30% Acrylamide	0.83 ml		
1.5M Tris (pH 8.8)	2.5 ml	0.5M Tris (pH 6.8)	0.63 ml		
10% SDS	0.1 ml	10% SDS	0.05 ml		
10% APS	0.1 ml	10% APS	0.05 ml		
TEMED 0.006 r		TEMED	0.005 ml		
Total Volume 10 ml		Total Volume	5 ml		

Table 2: SDS-PAGE gel preparation (Laemmli, 1970)

The gel components were mixed with ammonium persulfate (APS) and Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED) added before casting the gels. A gather comb was used to make a mark 1 cm beneath the comb. The acrylamide solution was poured between the glass plates, which were clamped using a casting clamp. Drops of 100% methanol were gently added on the separating gel to break bubbles. The gel was left for 15-30 minutes to polymerize. The methanol was removed using filter paper. The stacking gel was prepared, poured on top of the polymerized separating gel, followed by placing the comb into the gel and allowing it to set for 15 to 30 minutes. The comb was gently removed before 3 µl of the two protein markers were loaded in the first two lanes, the Pink Plus Prestained Protein Ladder (Gene DireX, 500 µl volume) stored in a fridge and the Blue protein Standard Broad Range Ladder, molecular weight marker (Bio labs, 500 µl volume) stored in a freezer. Then 3 µl of each of the prepared samples were added directly into the lanes using 10 µl Eppendorf pipette and tips. The 8% SDS-PAGE gel was vertically placed in a tank with running Tris-Glycine electrophoresis buffer on ice. Electrophoresis was then carried out using Bio-Rad Mini-Protean Tetra System and Wealtec Elite 200 power supply at 60V until the dye in the sample buffer reached the bottom of the gel, approximately 1 hour and 30 minutes. The gel was gently removed from the glass plates, placed on a clear open-top flask then washed with distilled water for 15 minutes on a reciprocating shaker (FINEPCR, SH30L Reciprocating Shaker). After 15 minutes, GelCode™ Blue Stain Reagent 24590gel code blue stain (Thermo Scientific[™]) was used to stain the gel and placed on a reciprocating shaker for an hour. The stain was discarded safely following lab protocols for hazardous substances and the gel was gently washed with distilled water for 15 minutes on a reciprocating shaker. The gel incubated overnight at room temperature in distilled water on a reciprocating shaker for complete destaining. The gel was then viewed on Univetec Cambridge transilluminator for visible bands, and then placed on a Biorad molecular image gel document system using the Image Lab software for analysis.

Preparation of samples

Xpose TM Trinean Spectrophotometer was used to determine the protein concentration of purified lion IgG. The final concentration of protein loaded in the wells of the SDS-PAGE was 2 μ g/ μ l. The samples were diluted with loading buffers, one for reduced (protein solvent buffer) and the other for non-reduced (6 x agarose loading gel) samples, to a final concentration of 2 μ g/ μ l as the optimal. The reduced, diluted samples were each placed in 2 ml Eppendorf tubes, placed on a heating block (Labnet Accublock Digital Dry Bath) at 100°C for 10 minutes and centrifuged using Wealtec E- Centrifuge for 10 seconds at 3000 rpm. The non-reduced diluted samples were each placed in a 2 ml Eppendorf tubes. All the samples and protein markers were kept on ice during the preparation step.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 Determination of protein concentration in lion, cat and chicken crude serum and purified IgG

The Xpose[™] Trinean Spectrophotometer software measured the protein concentration at an absorbance (OD) of 280 nm. The protein concentration (lion, cat, rhinoceros, chicken crude sera, lion IgG, cat IgG and dog IgG) was determined by the use of the Nova Biostorage Xpose[™] Trinean Spectrophotometer, then further used to determine dilutions of ELISA and SDS-PAGE analysis (Appendix 3). The protein concentrations of the purified IgG were used for SDS-PAGE analysis as follows: lion IgG (39.09 mg/ml), cat IgG (2.83mg/ml), dog IgG (1.60 mg/ml) and lion crude serum (72.6mg/ml).

3.2 Determination of cross-reactivity of goat anti-cat IgG HRP conjugate with lion IgG and other species

A direct ELISA was used to determine cross-reactivity of the commercial goat anti-cat IgG (H+L) antibody to crude lion serum, as well as other animal species. All the lion and cat crude sera were included in the ELISA to determine if anti-cat antibody cross-reacted with the lion sera. The cross-reactivity was subjected to coating concentration of 10 μ g/ml and 1:20 000 of the goat anti-cat IgG (H+L) antibody, HRP conjugate. As expected, the conjugate detected IgG in cat serum and cross-reacted with crude individual lion sera. High cross-reactivity was observed ranging between 87.7-100% and low reactivity with rhinoceros (22.4%) and chicken (0.01%) **(Tables 3)**.

3.3 Determination of cross-reactivity of goat Anti-cat IgG HRP conjugate with purified lion IgG

The purified IgG from pooled lion sera and purified IgG from cat serum were also tested for cross-reactivity. The goat anti-cat IgG (H+L) antibody cross-reacted with lion IgG. The percentage cross-reactivity was 93.4% for lion IgG (See **Appendix 2**).

Animal	OD _{450nm}	%
Domestic cat	2.2	100.0
Lion5	2.3	103.7
Lion2	2.3	101.1
Lion7	2.2	99.2
Lion3	2.2	99.2
Lion4	2.2	99.0
Lion6	2.2	98.6
Lion 1	2.2	98.4
Lion18	2.2	98.3
Lion22	2.1	95.9
Lion21	2.1	95.4
Lion23	2.1	95.1
Lion 17	2.1	93.7
Lion 20	2.1	93.2
Lion 24	2.1	92.9
Lion19	2.0	87.7
Rhinoceros	0.5	22.4
Chicken	0.0	0.01

Table 3: Cross-reactivity of goat anti-cat immunoglobulin IgG with other animal species crude sera

3.4 Purification of cat and lion IgG from crude serum

Immunoglobulin G from cat and pooled lion serum samples were successfully purified and captured using MagReSyn[®] Protein A magnetic beads. The supernatant from before elution, the wash steps and elution fractions were read spectrophotometrically, and this indicated higher protein concentrations in the elution fraction and very low protein concentrations in both wash steps (wash step 1 and 2) as indicated in **Table 4**.

	CAT-APRIL	CAT-MARCH	KNP Lions	Zim Lions				
	Protein (mg/ml)							
Glycine	-	-	-	-				
Before Purification	9.58	-	9.67	14.6				
Before Elution	3.7	-	7.72	6.88				
Wash Step 1	0.1	-	0.27	0.22				
Wash Step 2	0	-	0	0.01				
1E1	0.02	1.82	1.06	0.69				
1E2	1.88	2.23	3.11	2.98				
1E3	0.5	0.58	0.73	0				
2E1	-	1.88	1.09	1.55				
2E2	1.25	2.39	0	2.54				
2E3	0.27	0.73	0.92	0.05				
3E1	2.39	3.2	2.12	1				
3E2	1.69	0.73	0.58	3.01				
3E3	-	0.14	0.13	0.64				
4E1	0.9	2.31	1.28	1.37				
4E2	0	2.24	3.14	0				
4E3	0.73	0.49	0.63	0.77				

Table 4: Protein concentrations of different fractions collected during the purification step of cat and lion IgG

3.5 Characterization of lion, cat and dog IgG on SDS-PAGE

A molecular weight marker (Blue Stain Standard Broad Range) was used in the PAGE gel to determine the molecular weight of lion IgG (Capers, 2006, Sambrook and Russell, 2006). The basic structure of Ig consists of disulphide bonds and four polypeptide chains, the two light chains (L) and two heavy chains (H) containing variable regions (V_H or V_L) at the N terminal (Neoh et al., 1973, Huse et al., 2002, Bhattacharya, 2008, Schroeder Jr and Cavacini, 2010). During SDS-PAGE analysis, heat and reducing agent (protein solvent buffer) were used to denature the proteins of

the purified IgG of lion, cat and dog. Under reducing condition, the disulphide bonds between the light and heavy chains dissociated, resulting in heavy chain band at the top and the light chain band migrating to the bottom of the lane according to the size of the polypeptide. The lion and cat IgG heavy chains were found to be in the same range (54- 56 kDa). The dog IgG heavy chain was found to be smaller than the heavy chain of both the lion and cat IgG, estimated to be 48-50 kDa. The cat IgG light chain was estimated at 26-29 kDa. It was found to be larger than the lion IgG and dog IgG light chains estimated at 24-26 kDa and 22-25 kDa. For the non-reduced samples, the disulphide bonds were reformed resulting in a single band. The band was then used to determine the molecular weight of lion IgG and compare it to the molecular weight of cat and dog IgG. The lion samples revealed a protein band estimated to be between 150-160 kDa and noted to be larger than the heavy chain for both cat and dog. The cat and dog samples produced 135-145 kDa and 100-105 kDa bands respectively under non-reducing conditions. See **Table 5** for summary of molecular weights.

Table 5: Molecular weights (kDa) of lion and other species under reduced and non

 reduced conditions

Molecular weights (kDa)					
Lion	Cat	Dog			
54-56	54-56	48-50			
24-26	26-29	22-25			
150-160	135-145	100-105			
	Molec Lion 54-56 24-26 150-160	Molecular weights Lion Cat 54-56 54-56 24-26 26-29 150-160 135-145			

RC-Reduced conditions



Figure 4: 8% SDS-PAGE Gel: SDS-PAGE analysis of purified lion IgG (L) compared to cat IgG (C), Dog IgG (D) and lion crude serum (LCS)

Lane 1: Pink Plus Prestained Protein Ladder, Lane 2: Blue Protein Standard Broad Range Ladder, Lane 3: Reduced Lion IgG (LR), Lane 4: Non-Reduced Lion IgG (LNR), Lane 5: Reduced Cat IgG (CR), Lane 6: Non-Reduced Cat IgG (CNR), Lane 7: Reduced Dog IgG (DR), Lane 8: Non-Reduced Dog IgG (DNR), Lane 9: Reduced Lion Sera (LSR), Lane 10: Non-Reduced Lion Sera (LSNR).

CHAPTER 4: Discussion

Ferreira and Funston (2010) have reported a decrease in wild felid populations caused by poaching, drought and infectious diseases such as BTB, FIV disease and other pathogenic diseases, whereas Green et al. (2020) have stated that there is an expansion in farms breeding lions which have created the opportunity for an increase of emerging zoonotic diseases.

In view of the above, the understanding of the immune mechanisms that may underlie disease susceptibility and provide protection against large-scale population crashes in the face of disease outbreaks has become crucial especially with the advent of the Covid-19 pandemic. According to Capers (2006), one can use the immunoglobulin purification techniques that have been used previously for purifying the immunoglobulin of other species to study the immune system of different unstudied species. Immunoglobulin IgG plays an important role in the protection against diseases and can be a good indicator of immunological responses to infectious challenges.

The aim of this study was the isolation and characterization of lion IgG as little is known about the lion immune system. Several objectives were formulated, and results obtained are discussed.

The use of the Nova Biostorage Xpose[™] Trinean Spectrophotometer was used successfully to determine the protein concentration of crude serum and purified IgG. It was observed that fresh serum samples (less than a year) have higher protein concentration compared to the samples that were stored more than two years. Indeed, there are different factors that may influence the concentration levels of immunoglobulins which include age, disease condition and storage in the laboratory. The concentration of purified IgG does not deteriorate when stored at -20°C. In this study, only adult sera were used.

Cross-reactivity was observed using an in-house direct ELISA, the OD values are shown in Tables 3. A strong reactivity was observed between the goat anti-cat IgG with the lions' IgG, the highest percentage of cross-reactivity range between 87.7-100% whereas the low cross-reactivity were observed with rhinoceros (22.4%) and chicken (0.01%). These results confirm the phylogenetic relationship between domestic cat and lion. Since cat and lions are genetically related, cross-reactivity was expected at higher percentage with both crude sera and purified IgG in the study compared to the chicken sera which was included as a control sample in the ELISA. The study indicates a strong antigenic similarity between cat and lion and a more distant relationship when felids are compared with chicken. In general, species that are genetically related, show a very strong antigenic similarity and a very weak similarity if not related (Kania et al., 1997, Capers, 2006). Detecting antibodies in the sera of wild felids using anti-cat IgG is standard procedure (Penzhorn et al., 2002).

It is also worth noting that there was 22.4 % cross-reactivity with rhinoceros crude serum, although this specie is out of the felid family. These results indicate that the goat anti-cat IgG was specific to the rhinoceros to some extent. Perhaps, the antigenic determinants of IgG region of cat and rhinoceros do share homologues in the amino acid sequence of the antigen. Since rhinoceros and lion are both endangered species in South Africa, further investigation on the antigenic determinant of the immunoglobulin responsible for cross-reactivity could be explored. Immunoglobulins are useful as labelled secondary antibodies in immunoassays, it is therefore important to detect any cross-reactivity with other species to prevent false positive reactions (Ramlau, 1987).

The IgG isolated by the usage of MagReSyn[®] Protein A magnetic beads from ReSyn Biosciences confirmed a highly enriched IgG. The MagReSyn[®] Protein A has strong binding capacity for cat, dog, pig, rabbit and guinea pig IgG and was found to be effective for capturing the proteins from the lion sera and lion IgG (ReSyn-Biosciences, 2012-2017).

The results of the SDS-PAGE analysis provided us with the tool to determine the molecular mass of lion IgG. For the cat heavy chain the molecular weight is between 54-56 kDa which is in the same range (50-59 kDa) as shown in other studies (Grant, 1995, Yamada et al., 2007, Flies et al., 2012). According to the summary provided by

Flies et al. (2012), the molecular weight of cat heavy chain ranges from 50 to 59 kDa and light chains at 22 to 28 kDa. The molecular weight of dog IgG heavy and light chains ranges respectively from 50-55 kDa and 20-31 kDa (German et al., 1998, Donaghy and Moore, 2020), whereas in this study the molecular weight of both chains were respectively 48-50 kDa and 22-25 kDa. The molecular weight of lion IgG is larger than the molecular weight of cat IgG. IgG is the most common immunoglobulin with the highest concentration in serum and plays a major role in the antibody-mediated defence mechanisms as a type of passive immunity (Tizard Ian, 1996, Bhattacharya, 2008). The lion immunoglobulin is also found to be closely similar to the immunoglobulins of other Felidae (domestic cat) and Canidae (spotted hyena and domestic dog) (Yamada et al., 2007, Flies et al., 2012).

SDS-PAGE is the simplest and least expensive and most used technique to analyse antibodies for purity. On SDS-PAGE, the reduced samples of IgG class of antibodies provide heavy chains of approximately 50 kDa and light chains of approximately 25 kDa. When these samples are analysed without reduction of disulphide bonds, the antibodies should give rise to a single band where the intact antibody consisting of two heavy and two light chains, with a combined size of approximately 150 kDa (Kirley and Norman, 2018). In this study, the non-reduced lion IgG sample size of the molecule is estimated to be between 150-160 kDa.

Tizard Ian (1996) stated that IgG is the smallest of the immunoglobulin classes with a molecular weight of 180 kDa and can easily escape from blood vessels and play an important role in passive immunity. Our results have shown that the molecular weight of the IgG is 150-160 kDa. This may suggest that the lion maternal passive immunity to the foetus within natural habitat might be high.

SDS-PAGE has been widely used to characterize IgG of other mammalian species and the results have been proven to be consistent with the results of western blotting technique (Capers, 2006, Yamada et al., 2007, Flies et al., 2012). To our knowledge, besides the study conducted by Flies et al. (2012) on hyena immunology, there are no studies that determined the molecular weight of lion IgG.

Basic immunology tools can be used in studying the immune function in different species to determine the exposure to an infectious disease even during disease outbreaks.

CHAPTER 5: Conclusions, Research challenges and Future perspectives

5.1 Conclusions

The objectives of the study as set out were achieved within the time constraint.

5.1.1 Determine cross-reactivity of current or available antibodies with lion IgG.

The concentration of protein in the crude sera from different species was determined. There was cross-reactivity, high similarity was observed between cat and lion. The percentage of cross-reactivity dropped with other species as the species are not genetically related to lion.

5.1.2 Purify cat and lion IgG from crude serum.

The usage of the MagReSyn® Protein A magnetic beads from ReSyn Biosciences was effective for purification of lion IgG with a superior binding capacity. Cross-reactivity of purified IgG and crude sera was observed on ELISA using Goat anti-cat IgG.

5.1.3 Determine the molecular weight of lion IgG and the molecular weight of both the Fc and Fab fragments.

The molecular weight from purified lion Ig was characterized on SDS-PAGE and successfully measured. The lion and cat IgG heavy chain were found to be in the same range (54- 56 kDa). The dog IgG was slightly smaller than the heavy chain of both the lion IgG and cat IgG, estimated to be 48-50 kDa.

5.2 Research challenges

- Old sera did not yield any protein most likely due to denaturation of proteins during a long storage whereas the fresh sera yielded a high concentration of proteins (IgG) which allowed the characterization of proteins.
- The isolation and characterization of the lion immunoglobulin was laborious and difficult process, the handling of the gel was a delicate technique to master.
- Lion IgG is large and could not be fully characterized using SDS PAGE.

5.3 Future perspectives

5.3.1. There are some activities that have derived from this research, which will be carried out for publication purposes. These activities will be planned as short, medium and long-term goals.

5.3.2. All bioassays related to this research project were conducted *in vitro*. There is still a need for the development of anti-lion antibodies *in vivo* using laboratory animals/other small animal species as these anti-lion antibodies are not commercially available.

5.3.3. Isolation and sequencing of whole IgG genome from lions in captivity and semicaptivity.

5.3.4. Comparing immunoglobulins profile of captive and/or free-ranging lions from neighbouring countries of South Africa.

6. REFERENCES

- AGBANDJE, M., MCKENNA, R., ROSSMANN, M. G., STRASSHEIM, M. L. & PARRISH, C. R. 1993. Structure determination of feline panleukopenia virus empty particles. *Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics,* 16, 155-171.
- ANTUNES, A., TROYER, J. L., ROELKE, M. E., PECON-SLATTERY, J., PACKER, C., WINTERBACH, C., WINTERBACH, H., HEMSON, G., FRANK, L. & STANDER, P. 2008. The evolutionary dynamics of the lion Panthera leo revealed by host and viral population genomics. *PLoS genetics*, 4, e1000251.
- APPELBEE, A. J., THOMPSON, R. A. & OLSON, M. E. 2005. Giardia and Cryptosporidium in mammalian wildlife–current status and future needs. *Trends in parasitology*, 21, 370-376.
- AZWAI, S., CARTER, S. & WOLDEHIWET, Z. 1993. The isolation and characterization of camel (Camelus dromedarius) immunoglobulin classes and subclasses. *Journal of comparative pathology*, 109, 187-195.
- BASS, K., NONNECKE, B., PALMER, M., THACKER, T., HARDEGGER, R., SCHROEDER, B., RAEBER, A. & WATERS, W. 2013. Clinical and diagnostic developments of a gamma interferon release assay for use in bovine tuberculosis control programs. *Clin. Vaccine Immunol.*, 20, 1827-1835.
- BELLAN, S. E., CIZAUSKAS, C. A., MIYEN, J., EBERSOHN, K., KÜSTERS, M., PRAGER, K., VAN VUUREN, M., SABETA, C. & GETZ, W. M. 2012. Black-backed jackal exposure to rabies virus, canine distemper virus, and Bacillus anthracis in Etosha National Park, Namibia. *Journal of wildlife diseases*, 48, 371-381.
- BELLINI, W. J., ENGLUND, G., RICHARDSON, C., ROZENBLATT, S. & LAZZARINI, R. 1986. Matrix genes of measles virus and canine distemper virus: cloning, nucleotide sequences, and deduced amino acid sequences. *Journal of Virology*, 58, 408-416.
- BEUTLER, B. 2004. Innate immunity: an overview. Molecular immunology, 40, 845-859.
- BHATTACHARYA, A. 2008. Immunoglobulins: Structure and Function.
- BILLETER, S., LEVY, M., CHOMEL, B. B. & BREITSCHWERDT, E. 2008. Vector transmission of Bartonella species with emphasis on the potential for tick transmission. *Medical and veterinary entomology*, 22, 1-15.
- BJORK, K. E., AVERBECK, G. A. & STROMBERG, B. E. 2000. Parasites and parasite stages of freeranging wild lions (Panthera leo) of northern Tanzania. *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine*, 31, 56-62.
- BONILLA, F. A. & OETTGEN, H. C. 2010. Adaptive immunity. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 125, S33-S40.
- BRENNAN, G., PODELL, M. D., WACK, R., KRAFT, S., TROYER, J. L., BIELEFELDT-OHMANN, H. & VANDEWOUDE, S. 2006. Neurologic disease in captive lions (Panthera leo) with low-titer lion lentivirus infection. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 44, 4345-4352.
- BROUGHTON, H. M. 2017. immunology Ivan Roitt.
- BROWN, E. W., OLMSTED, R. A., MARTENSON, J. S. & O'BRIEN, S. J. 1993. Exposure to FIV and FIPV in wild and captive cheetahs. *Zoo Biology*, 12, 135-142.
- BROWN, E. W., YUHKI, N., PACKER, C. & O'BRIEN, S. J. 1994. A lion lentivirus related to feline immunodeficiency virus: epidemiologic and phylogenetic aspects. *Journal of Virology*, 68, 5953-5968.
- BROWN, J. L. 2011. Female reproductive cycles of wild female felids. *Animal reproduction science*, 124, 155-62.
- CALLANAN, J., THOMPSON, H., TOTH, S., O'NEIL, B., LAWRENCE, C., WILLETT, B. & JARRETT, O. 1992. Clinical and pathological findings in feline immunodeficiency virus experimental infection. *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology*, 35, 3-13.

CAPERS, J. W. 2006. Purification and Preliminary Qualitative and Quantitative Evaluation of Immunoglobulin Isotypes of the Harbor Seal (Phoca Vitulina).

CARNEY, H. C., ENGLAND, J. J., HODGIN, E. C., WHITELEY, H. E., ADKISON, D. L. & SUNDBERG, J. P. 1990. Papillomavirus infection of aged Persian cats. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 2, 294-299.

CARTER, S., HUGHES, D. & BAKER, J. 1990. Characterization and measurement of immunoglobulins in the grey seal (Halichoerus grypus). *Journal of comparative pathology*, 102, 13-23.

CASAL, M. L., JEZYK, P. F. & GIGER, U. 1996. Transfer of colostral antibodies from queens to their kittens. *American journal of veterinary research*, 57, 1653-1658.

CAVAGNOLO, R. Z. & VEDROS, N. A. 1978. Identification and characterization of three immunoglobulin classes in the northern fur seal Callorhinus ursinus. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 2, 689-697.

CHOMEL, B. B., BOULOUIS, H.-J., BREITSCHWERDT, E. B., KASTEN, R. W., VAYSSIER-TAUSSAT, M., BIRTLES, R. J., KOEHLER, J. E. & DEHIO, C. 2009. Ecological fitness and strategies of adaptation of Bartonella species to their hosts and vectors. *Veterinary research*, 40, 1-22.

CHOMEL, B. B., KASTEN, R. W., HENN, J. B. & MOLIA, S. 2006. Bartonella infection in domestic cats and wild felids. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1078, 410-415.

CLEAVELAND, S., MLENGEYA, T., KAZWALA, R., MICHEL, A., KAARE, M., JONES, S., EBLATE, E., SHIRIMA, G. & PACKER, C. 2005. Tuberculosis in Tanzanian wildlife. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 41, 446-453.

COMBES, C. 1996. Parasites, biodiversity and ecosystem stability. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 5, 953-962.

DALERUM, F., SOMERS, M. J., KUNKEL, K. E. & CAMERON, E. Z. 2008. The potential for large carnivores to act as biodiversity surrogates in southern Africa. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 17, 2939-2949.

DAY, M. 2007. Immune system development in the dog and cat. *Journal of comparative pathology,* 137, S10-S15.

DE LA FE, C., RODRÍGUEZ, J., RAMÍREZ, G., HERVÁS, J., GIL, J. & POVEDA, J. 2006. Sudden death associated with Clostridium sordellii in captive lions (Panthera leo). *Veterinary pathology,* 43, 370-374.

DE VOS, V., BENGIS, R. G., KRIEK, N., KEET, D., RAATH, J., HUCHZERMEYER, H. F. & MICHEL, A. L. 2001. The epidemiology of tuberculosis in free-ranging African buffalo (Syncerus caffer) in the Kruger National Park, South Africa.

DE VRIES, R. D., DUPREX, W. P. & DE SWART, R. L. 2015. Morbillivirus infections: an introduction. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.

DE YBANEZ, M. R., MARTÍNEZ-CARRASCO, C., MARTÍNEZ, J., ORTIZ, J., ATTOUT, T. & BAIN, O. 2006. Dirofilaria immitis in an African lion(Panthera leo). *Veterinary record*, 158, 240.

DEEM, S. L., SPELMAN, L. H., YATES, R. A. & MONTALI, R. J. 2000. Canine distemper in terrestrial carnivores: a review. *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife medicine*, 31, 441-452.

DELVES, P. J. & ROITT, I. M. 2000. The immune system. *New England journal of medicine*, 343, 37-49.

DIMITROV, J. D., PLANCHAIS, C., ROUMENINA, L. T., VASSILEV, T. L., KAVERI, S. V. & LACROIX-DESMAZES, S. 2013. Antibody polyreactivity in health and disease: statu variabilis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 191, 993-999.

DONAGHY, D. & MOORE, A. R. 2020. Identification of canine IgG and its subclasses, IgG1, IgG2, IgG3 and IgG4, by immunofixation and commercially available antisera. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 221, 110014.

DONNELLY, C. A., WOODROFFE, R., COX, D., BOURNE, J., GETTINBY, G., LE FEVRE, A. M., MCINERNEY, J. P. & MORRISON, W. I. 2003. Impact of localized badger culling on tuberculosis incidence in British cattle. *Nature*, 426, 834-837.

- DRICIRU, M., SIEFERT, L., PRAGER, K. C., DUBOVI, E., SANDE, R., PRINCEE, F., FRIDAY, T. & MUNSON, L. 2006. A serosurvey of viral infections in lions (Panthera leo), from Queen Elizabeth National Park, Uganda. *Journal of wildlife diseases*, 42, 667-671.
- DUBEY, J., LINDSAY, D. & SPEER, C. 1998. Structures of Toxoplasma gondiitachyzoites, bradyzoites, and sporozoites and biology and development of tissue cysts. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 11, 267-299.
- DYBAS, C. L. 2009. Infectious diseases subdue Serengeti lions. *BioScience*, 59, 8-13.
- EHRENSTEIN, M. R. & NOTLEY, C. A. 2010. The importance of natural IgM: scavenger, protector and regulator. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 10, 778.
- EL-HEWAIRY, H. M. 2012. Preparation of Anti-Buffalo-IgG Alkaline Phosphates as Specific Conjugate for Serodiagnosis of Buffalo Species Using Protein-A-Sepharose Affinity Chromatography. *Journal of American Science*, 8.
- ELOFF, F. 1973. Lion predation in the Kalahari Gemsbok National Park. South African Journal of Wildlife Research-24-month delayed open access, 3, 59-63.
- ENDO, Y., UEMA, M., MIURA, R., TSUKIYAMA-KOHARA, K., TSUJIMOTO, H., YONEDA, K. & KAI, C.
 2004. Prevalence of canine distemper virus, feline immunodeficiency virus and feline leukemia virus in captive African lions (Panthera leo) in Japan. *Journal of veterinary medical science*, 66, 1587-1589.
- FAIRALL, N. 1968. The reproductive seasons of some mammals in the Kruger National Park. *African Zoology*, 3.
- FERRA, B., HOLEC-GĄSIOR, L. & GRĄŹLEWSKA, W. 2020. Toxoplasma gondii Recombinant Antigens in the Serodiagnosis of Toxoplasmosis in Domestic and Farm Animals. *Animals*, 10, 1245.
- FERREIRA, S. C. M., TORELLI, F., KLEIN, S., FYUMAGWA, R., KARESH, W. B., HOFER, H., SEEBER, F. & EAST, M. L. 2019. Evidence of high exposure to Toxoplasma gondii in free-ranging and captive African carnivores. *International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife,* 8, 111-117.
- FERREIRA, S. M. & FUNSTON, P. J. 2010. Estimating lion population variables: prey and disease effects in Kruger National Park, South Africa. *Wildlife Research*, 37, 194-206.
- FERREIRA, S. M., MARUPING, N. T., SCHOULTZ, D. & SMIT, T. R. 2013. Effects of the number of people on efficient capture and sample collection: A lion case study. *Journal of the South African Veterinary Association*, 84, 00-00.
- FLIES, A. S., GRANT, C. K., MANSFIELD, L. S., SMITH, E. J., WELDELE, M. L. & HOLEKAMP, K. E. 2012. Development of a hyena immunology toolbox. *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology*, 145, 110-119.
- FRANK, S. A. 2002. *Immunology and evolution of infectious disease*, Princeton University Press.
- FUNSTON, P. J., MILLS, M. G. L., BIGGS, H. C. & RICHARDSON, P. R. K. 1998. Hunting by male lions: ecological influences and socioecological implications. *Animal Behaviour*, 56, 1333-1345.
- GALLY, J. A. 1973. Structure of immunoglobulins. The antigens. Elsevier.
- GASKELL, R., DAWSON, S., RADFORD, A. & THIRY, E. 2007. Feline herpesvirus. *Veterinary research,* 38, 337-354.
- GERMAN, A., HALL, E. & DAY, M. 1998. Measurement of IgG, IgM and IgA concentrations in canine serum, saliva, tears and bile. *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology*, 64, 107-121.
- GILBERT, A. T., FOOKS, A., HAYMAN, D., HORTON, D., MÜLLER, T., PLOWRIGHT, R., PEEL, A., BOWEN, R., WOOD, J. & MILLS, J. 2013. Deciphering serology to understand the ecology of infectious diseases in wildlife. *EcoHealth*, 10, 298-313.
- GRANT, C. 1995. Purification and characterization of feline IgM and IgA isotypes and three subclasses of IgG. *Feline Immunology and Immunodeficiency*, 95-107.
- GRECO, G., MADIO, A., MARTELLA, V., CAMPOLO, M., CORRENTE, M., BUONAVOGLIA, D. & BUONAVOGLIA, C. 2005. Enterotoxemia associated with beta2 toxin–producing Clostridium perfringens type A in two Asiatic black bears (Selenarctos thibetanus). *Journal of veterinary diagnostic investigation*, 17, 186-189.

- GREEN, J., JAKINS, C., ASFAW, E., BRUSCHI, N., PARKER, A., DE WAAL, L. & D'CRUZE, N. 2020. African Lions and Zoonotic Diseases: Implications for Commercial Lion Farms in South Africa. *Animals*, 10, 1692.
- GREENWOOD, A. 1985. Diagnosis and treatment of botulism in lions. *The Veterinary record*, 117, 58-60.

HAAGSMA, J. 1991. Pathogenic anaerobic bacteria and the environment. Rev Sci Tech, 10, 749-64.

HAMPSON, K., LEMBO, T., BESSELL, P., AUTY, H., PACKER, C., HALLIDAY, J., BEESLEY, C. A., FYUMAGWA, R., HOARE, R. & ERNEST, E. 2011. Predictability of anthrax infection in the Serengeti, Tanzania. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48, 1333-1344.

HANNA, P. E. & DUNN, D. 2003. Cutaneous fibropapilloma in a cat (feline sarcoid). *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 44, 601.

HASSELL, J. M., BEGON, M., WARD, M. J. & FÈVRE, E. M. 2017. Urbanization and disease emergence: dynamics at the wildlife–livestock–human interface. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 32, 55-67.

- HEDDLE, R. & ROWLEY, D. 1975. Dog immunoglobulins. I. immunochemical characterization of dog serum, parotid saliva, colostrum, milk and small bowel fluid. *Immunology*, 29, 185.
- HENSCHEL, P., COAD, L., BURTON, C., CHATAIGNER, B., DUNN, A., MACDONALD, D., SAIDU, Y. & HUNTER, L. T. 2014. The lion in West Africa is critically endangered. *PLoS One*, 9, e83500.
- HENZEL, A., LOVATO, L. T. & WEIBLEN, R. 2015. Epidemiological status of felid herpesvirus type-1 and feline calicivirus infections in Brazil. *Ciência Rural*, 45, 1042-1049.
- HOFMANN-LEHMANN, R., FEHR, D., GROB, M., ELGIZOLI, M., PACKER, C., MARTENSON, J. S., O'BRIEN, S. J. & LUTZ, H. 1996. Prevalence of antibodies to feline parvovirus, calicivirus, herpesvirus, coronavirus, and immunodeficiency virus and of feline leukemia virus antigen and the interrelationship of these viral infections in free-ranging lions in east Africa. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*, **3**, 554-562.
- HORAK, I. G., HEYNE, H. & DONKIN, E. F. 2010. Parasites of domestic and wild animals in South Africa: XLVIII. Ticks (Acari: Ixodidae) infesting domestic cats and wild felids in southern Africa. *Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research*, 77, 01-07.
- HUGH-JONES, M. & DE VOS, V. 2002. Anthrax and wildlife. *Revue Scientifique et Technique-Office International des Epizooties,* 21, 359-384.
- HUSE, K., BÖHME, H.-J. & SCHOLZ, G. H. 2002. Purification of antibodies by affinity chromatography. *Journal of biochemical and biophysical methods*, 51, 217-231.
- HÜTTNER, M., NAKAO, M., WASSERMANN, T., SIEFERT, L., BOOMKER, J. D., DINKEL, A., SAKO, Y., MACKENSTEDT, U., ROMIG, T. & ITO, A. 2008. Genetic characterization and phylogenetic position of Echinococcus felidis (Cestoda: Taeniidae) from the African lion. *International journal for parasitology*, 38, 861-868.
- IWASAKI, A. & MEDZHITOV, R. 2015. Control of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. *Nature immunology*, 16, 343-353.
- JACOMO, V., KELLY, P. & RAOULT, D. 2002. Natural history of Bartonella infections (an exception to Koch's postulate). *Clinical and diagnostic laboratory immunology*, **9**, 8-18.
- JOHANSSON, S. 2011. The history of IgE: from discovery to 2010. *Current allergy and asthma reports,* 11, 173-177.
- JOHNSON, R. H. 1964. Isolation of a virus from a condition simulating feline panleucopaenia in a leopard. *Vet. Rec*, 76, 1008-1013.
- JOUBERT, S. 1986. The Kruger National Park-an introduction. *Koedoe*, 29, 1-11.
- KAMGA-WALADJO, A. 2009. Neospora caninum and Toxoplasma gondii in Lion (Panthera leo) from Senegal, West Africa*** AR. Kamga-Waladjo," OB Gbati," P. Kone," RA Lapo," E. Dombou,"G. Chatagnon," SN. Bakou," PEH Diop,'LJ Pangui,"D. Tainturier and" JA Akakpo" Inter-States School of Veterinary Sciences and Medicine of Dakar. *Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances*, 4, 346-349.

- KANIA, S., RICHMAN, L., KENNEDY, M., MONTALI, R. J. & POTGIETER, L. 1997. The isolation, detection, and cross-reactivity in Asian elephant IgG for the development of serological diagnostic tests.
- KEET, D., KRIEK, N., PENRITH, M., MICHEL, A. & HUCHZERMEYER, H. 1996. Tuberculosis in buffaloes (Syncerus caffer) in the Kruger National Park: spread of the disease to other species. Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research, 63, 239-244.
- KELLY, P., CARTER, S., AZWAI, S. & CADMAN, H. 1998. Isolation and characterisation of immunoglobulin g and IgG subclasses of the African elephant (Loxodonta africana). *Comparative immunology, microbiology and infectious diseases*, 21, 65-73.
- KELLY, P. J., TAGWIRA, M., MATTHEWMAN, L., MASON, P. R. & WRIGHT, E. P. 1993. Reactions of sera from laboratory, domestic and wild animals in Africa with protein A and a recombinant chimeric protein AG. *Comparative immunology, microbiology and infectious diseases*, 16, 299-305.
- KENNEDY, M., CITINO, S., MCNABB, A. H., MOFFATT, A. S., GERTZ, K. & KANIA, S. 2002. Detection of feline coronavirus in captive Felidae in the USA. *Journal of veterinary diagnostic investigation*, 14, 520-522.
- KENNEDY, M., KANIA, S., STYLIANIDES, E., BERTSCHINGER, H., KEET, D. & VAN VUUREN, M. 2003. Detection of feline coronavirus infection in southern African nondomestic felids. *Journal of Wildlife diseases*, 39, 529-535.
- KIRLEY, T. L. & NORMAN, A. B. 2018. Unfolding of IgG domains detected by non-reducing SDS-PAGE. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 503, 944-949.
- KOEHLER, T. M. 2009. Bacillus anthracis physiology and genetics. *Molecular aspects of medicine*, 30, 386-396.
- LAEMMLI, U. K. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *nature*, 227, 680.
- LAPPIN, M. R., JACOBSON, E. R., KOLLIAS, G. V., POWELL, C. C. & STOVER, J. 1991. Comparison of serologic assays for the diagnosis of toxoplasmosis in nondomestic felids. *J. zoo wildl. med*, 22, 169-174.
- LEMBO, T., HAMPSON, K., AUTY, H., BEESLEY, C. A., BESSELL, P., PACKER, C., HALLIDAY, J., FYUMAGWA, R., HOARE, R. & ERNEST, E. 2011. Serologic surveillance of anthrax in the Serengeti ecosystem, Tanzania, 1996–2009. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 17, 387.

LIEBERMAN, P. L. 2002. Immunoglobulin Structure and Function. Atlas of Allergic Diseases. Springer.

- LOOTS, A. K., MOKGOKONG, P. S., MITCHELL, E., VENTER, E. H., KOTZE, A. & DALTON, D. L. 2018. Phylogenetic analysis of canine distemper virus in South African wildlife. *PloS one*, 13, e0199993.
- MAAS, M. 2011. Tuberculosis in lions (Panthera leo) in South Africa: evaluation of the immune response towards Mycobacterium bovis.
- MAAS, M., KEET, D., RUTTEN, V. P., HEESTERBEEK, J. & NIELEN, M. 2012a. Assessing the impact of feline immunodeficiency virus and bovine tuberculosis co-infection in African lions. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 279, 4206-4214.
- MAAS, M., VAN KOOTEN, P., SCHREUDER, J., MORAR, D., TIJHAAR, E., MICHEL, A. & RUTTEN, V. 2012b. Development of a lion-specific interferon-gamma assay. *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology*, 149, 292-297.
- MAAS, M., VAN RHIJN, I., ALLSOPP, M. T. & RUTTEN, V. P. 2010. Lion (Panthera leo) and cheetah (Acinonyx jubatus) IFN-γ sequences. *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology*, 134, 296-298.
- MAEDA, K., HORIMOTO, T. & MIKAMI, T. 1998. Properties and functions of feline herpesvirus type 1 glycoproteins. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 60, 881-888.
- MARTELLA, V., CAMPOLO, M., LORUSSO, E., CAVICCHIO, P., CAMERO, M., BELLACICCO, A. L., DECARO, N., ELIA, G., GRECO, G. & CORRENTE, M. 2007. Norovirus in captive lion cub (Panthera leo). *Emerging infectious diseases*, 13, 1071.

- MCALOOSE, D., LAVERACK, M., WANG, L., KILLIAN, M. L., CASERTA, L. C., YUAN, F., MITCHELL, P. K., QUEEN, K., MAULDIN, M. R. & CRONK, B. D. 2020. From people to Panthera: Natural SARS-CoV-2 infection in tigers and lions at the Bronx Zoo. *bioRxiv*.
- MCDERMID, K. R., SNYMAN, A., VERREYNNE, F. J., CARROLL, J. P., PENZHORN, B. L. & YABSLEY, M. J. 2017. Surveillance for viral and parasitic pathogens in a vulnerable African lion(Panthera Leo) population in the Northern Tuli Game Reserve, Botswana. *Journal of wildlife diseases*, 53, 54-61.
- MCEWAN, W. A., MCMONAGLE, E. L., LOGAN, N., SERRA, R. C., KAT, P., VANDEWOUDE, S., HOSIE, M.
 J. & WILLETT, B. J. 2008. Genetically divergent strains of feline immunodeficiency virus from the domestic cat (Felis catus) and the African lion(Panthera leo) share usage of CD134 and CXCR4 as entry receptors. *Journal of virology*, 82, 10953-10958.
- MICHEL, A. L., BENGIS, R. G., KEET, D., HOFMEYR, M., DE KLERK, L., CROSS, P., JOLLES, A. E., COOPER, D., WHYTE, I. & BUSS, P. 2006. Wildlife tuberculosis in South African conservation areas: implications and challenges. *Veterinary microbiology*, 112, 91-100.
- MICHEL, A. L., MÜLLER, B. & VAN HELDEN, P. D. 2010. Mycobacterium bovis at the animal–human interface: A problem, or not? *Veterinary microbiology*, 140, 371-381.
- MILLER, M., BUSS, P., HOFMEYR, J., OLEA-POPELKA, F., PARSONS, S. & VAN HELDEN, P. 2015. Antemortem diagnosis of Mycobacterium bovis infection in free-ranging African lions (Panthera leo) and implications for transmission. *Journal of wildlife diseases*, 51, 493-497.
- MILLER, M. A., BUSS, P., SYLVESTER, T. T., LYASHCHENKO, K. P., DEKLERK-LORIST, L.-M., BENGIS, R., HOFMEYR, M., HOFMEYR, J., MATHEBULA, N. & HAUSLER, G. 2019. Mycobacterium bovis in free-ranging lions (panthera leo)—evaluation of serological and tuberculin skin tests for detection of infection and disease. *Journal of zoo and wildlife medicine*, 50, 7-15.
- MOLIA, S., CHOMEL, B. B., KASTEN, R. W., LEUTENEGGER, C., STEELE, B., MARKER, L., MARTENSON, J. S., KEET, D., BENGIS, R. & PETERSON, R. 2004. Prevalence of Bartonella infection in wild African lions (Panthera leo) and cheetahs (Acinonyx jubatus). *Veterinary microbiology*, 100, 31-41.
- MOLIA, S., KASTEN, R. W., STUCKEY, M. J., BOULOUIS, H.-J., ALLEN, J., BORGO, G. M., KOEHLER, J. E., CHANG, C. & CHOMEL, B. B. 2016. Isolation of Bartonella henselae, Bartonella koehlerae subsp. koehlerae, Bartonella koehlerae subsp. bothieri and a new subspecies of B. koehlerae from free-ranging lions (Panthera leo) from South Africa, cheetahs (Acinonyx jubatus) from Namibia and captive cheetahs from California. *Epidemiology & Infection*, 144, 3237-3243.
- MOTICKA, E. J. 2015. A historical perspective on evidence-based immunology, Newnes.
- MÜLLER-GRAF, C., WOOLHOUSE, M. & PACKER, C. 1999. Epidemiology of an intestinal parasite (Spirometra spp.) in two populations of African lions (Panthera leo). *Parasitology*, 118, 407-415.
- MUSOKE, J., HLOKWE, T., MARCOTTY, T., DU PLESSIS, B. J. & MICHEL, A. L. 2015. Spillover of Mycobacterium bovis from wildlife to livestock, South Africa. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 21, 448.
- NEOH, S., JAHODA, D., ROWE, D. & VOLLER, A. 1973. Immunoglobulin classes in mammalian species identified by cross-reactivity with antisera to human immunoglobulin. *Immunochemistry*, 10, 805-813.
- NEWMAN, A., SMITH, D., GHAI, R. R., WALLACE, R. M., TORCHETTI, M. K., LOIACONO, C., MURRELL, L. S., CARPENTER, A., MOROFF, S. & ROONEY, J. A. 2020. First Reported Cases of SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Companion Animals—New York, March–April 2020. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 69, 710.
- NEZLIN, R. 2017. Variety of Immunoglobulin G Functions. J Immunol, 4, 1035.
- NISONOFF, A. 1983. Introduction to molecular immunology, Sinauer.
- NOGUCHI, H. 1926. ETIOLOGY OF OROYA FEVER: V. The Experimental Transmission of Bartonella bacilliformis by Ticks (Dermacentor andersoni). *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 44, 729-734.

- OLMSTED, R. A., HIRSCH, V. M., PURCELL, R. H. & JOHNSON, P. R. 1989. Nucleotide sequence analysis of feline immunodeficiency virus: genome organization and relationship to other lentiviruses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 86, 8088-8092.
- OTRANTO, D., CANTACESSI, C., DANTAS-TORRES, F., BRIANTI, E., PFEFFER, M., GENCHI, C., GUBERTI, V., CAPELLI, G. & DEPLAZES, P. 2015. The role of wild canids and felids in spreading parasites to dogs and cats in Europe. Part II: Helminths and arthropods. *Veterinary parasitology*, 213, 24-37.
- PACKER, C., ALTIZER, S., APPEL, M., BROWN, E., MARTENSON, J., O'BRIEN, S., ROELKE-PARKER, M., HOFMANN-LEHMANN, R. & LUTZ, H. 1999. Viruses of the Serengeti: patterns of infection and mortality in African lions. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 68, 1161-1178.
- PACKER, C., BRINK, H., KISSUI, B. M., MALITI, H., KUSHNIR, H. & CARO, T. 2011. Effects of Trophy Hunting on Lion and Leopard Populations in Tanzania. *Conservation Biology*, 25, 142-153.
- PARHAM, P. 2014. *The immune system*, Garland Science.
- PASTORET, P.-P., GRIEBEL, P., BAZIN, H. & GOVAERTS, A. 1998. Handbook of vertebrate immunology, Academic Press.
- PEDERSEN, N. C., BOYLE, J., FLOYD, K., FUDGE, A. & BARKER, J. 1981. An enteric coronavirus infection of cats and its relationship to feline infectious peritonitis. *American journal of veterinary research*, 42, 368-377.
- PEDERSEN, N. C., HO, E. W., BROWN, M. L. & YAMAMOTO, J. K. 1987. Isolation of a T-lymphotropic virus from domestic cats with an immunodeficiency-like syndrome. *Science*, 235, 790-793.
- PEDROSA, C. D. M. 2018. Frequência de Neospora caninum e de Toxoplasma gondii em Cachorro-do-Mato (Cerdocyon thous, Linnaeus, 1776) no estado de Alagoas, Brasil.
- PENZHORN, B., STYLIANIDES, E., VAN VUUREN, M., ALEXANDER, K., MELTZER, D. & MUKARATI, N. 2002. Seroprevalence of Toxoplasma gondii in free-ranging lion and leopard populations in southern Africa. South African Journal of Wildlife Research-24-month delayed open access, 32, 163-165.
- PENZHORN, B. L. 2006. Babesiosis of wild carnivores and ungulates. *Veterinary parasitology*, 138, 11-21.
- PENZHORN, B. L., KJEMTRUP, A. M., LÓPEZ-REBOLLAR, L. M. & CONRAD, P. A. 2001. Babesia leo n. sp. from lions in the Kruger National Park, South Africa, and its relation to other small piroplasms. *Journal of Parasitology*, 87, 681-685.
- POLAND, A. M., VENNEMA, H., FOLEY, J. E. & PEDERSEN, N. C. 1996. Two related strains of feline infectious peritonitis virus isolated from immunocompromised cats infected with a feline enteric coronavirus. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 34, 3180-3184.
- POLI, A., ABRAMO, F., CAVICCHIO, P., BANDECCHI, P., GHELARDI, E. & PISTELLO, M. 1995. Lentivirus infection in an African lion: a clinical, pathologic and virologic study. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 31, 70-74.
- PORTER, R. R. 1973. Structural studies of immunoglobulins. Science, 180, 713-716.
- POVEY, R. & DAVIS, E. 1977. Panleucopenia and respiratory virus infection in wild felids. *The world's* cats, 3, 120-128.
- PRETORIUS, A.-M., KUYL, J. M., ISHERWOOD, D. R. & BIRTLES, R. J. 2004. Bartonella henselae in African lion, South Africa. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, **10**, 2257.
- PREUD'HOMME, J.-L., PETIT, I., BARRA, A., MOREL, F., LECRON, J.-C. & LELIEVRE, E. 2000. Structural and functional properties of membrane and secreted IgD. *Molecular immunology*, 37, 871-887.
- QUINN, P., CARTER, M., MARKEY, B. & CARTER, G. 1994. Clinical Veterinary Microbiology. Wolfe publishing: London. UK.
- RADFORD, A. D., COYNE, K. P., DAWSON, S., PORTER, C. J. & GASKELL, R. M. 2007. Feline calicivirus. *Veterinary research*, 38, 319-335.
- RAJU, T. N. 1999. The nobel chronicles. *The Lancet*, 353, 1108.

- RAMLAU, J. 1987. Use of secondary antibodies for visualization of bound primary reagents in blotting procedures. *Electrophoresis*, 8, 398-402.
- RANGE, R. W. H. 2011. Anthrax in free-ranging wildlife. *Fowler's Zoo and Wild Animal Medicine Current Therapy (Miller, RE and Fowler, ME eds.), Elsevier Health Sciences, St. Louis.*[Google Scholar], 98.
- RECTOR, A., LEMEY, P., TACHEZY, R., MOSTMANS, S., GHIM, S.-J., VAN DOORSLAER, K., ROELKE, M., BUSH, M., MONTALI, R. J. & JOSLIN, J. 2007. Ancient papillomavirus-host co-speciation in Felidae. *Genome biology*, **8**, 1-12.
- RENDON-MARIN, S., DA FONTOURA BUDASZEWSKI, R., CANAL, C. W. & RUIZ-SAENZ, J. 2019. Tropism and molecular pathogenesis of canine distemper virus. *Virology journal*, 16, 30.
- RESYN-BIOSCIENCES 2012-2017. MagReSyn® Protein A.
- RIBATTI, D. 2016. The discovery of immunoglobulin E. Immunology letters, 171, 1-4.
- RIEMANN, H., BURRIDGE, M., BEHYMER, D. & FRANTI, C. 1975. Toxoplasma gondii antibodies in freeliving African mammals. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 11, 529-533.
- RIGGIO, J., JACOBSON, A., DOLLAR, L., BAUER, H., BECKER, M., DICKMAN, A., FUNSTON, P., GROOM, R., HENSCHEL, P., DE IONGH, H., LICHTENFELD, L. & PIMM, S. 2013. The size of savannah Africa: a lion's (<i>Panthera leo</i>) view. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 22, 17-35.
- ROELKE-PARKER, M. E., MUNSON, L., PACKER, C., KOCK, R., CLEAVELAND, S., CARPENTER, M., O'BRIEN, S. J., POSPISCHIL, A., HOFMANN-LEHMANN, R. & LUTZ, H. 1996. A canine distemper virus epidemic in Serengeti lions (Panthera leo). *Nature*, 379, 441.
- ROELKE, M. E., BROWN, M. A., TROYER, J. L., WINTERBACH, H., WINTERBACH, C., HEMSON, G., SMITH, D., JOHNSON, R. C., PECON-SLATTERY, J. & ROCA, A. L. 2009. Pathological manifestations of feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) infection in wild African lions. *Virology*, 390, 1-12.
- ROELKE, M. E., PECON-SLATTERY, J., TAYLOR, S., CITINO, S., BROWN, E., PACKER, C., VANDEWOUDE, S. & O'BRIEN, S. J. 2006. T-lymphocyte profiles in FIV-infected wild lions and pumas reveal CD4 depletion. *Journal of wildlife diseases*, 42, 234-248.
- ROITT, I. M., BROSTOFF, J. & MALE, D. K. 1989. Immunology.
- RORBYE, C., PETERSEN, I. S. & NILAS, L. 2000. Postpartum Clostridium sordellii infection associated with fatal toxic shock syndrome. *Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica*, 79, 1134-1135.
- ROTSTEIN, D. S., TAYLOR, S. K., BRADLEY, J. & BREITSCHWERDT, E. B. 2000. Prevalence of Bartonella henselae antibody in Florida panthers. *Journal of wildlife diseases*, 36, 157-160.
- ROWE, D., HUG, K., FAULK, W. P., MCCORMICK, J. & GERBER, H. 1973. IgD on the surface of peripheral blood lymphocytes of the human newborn. *Nature New Biology*, 242, 155-157.
- RUSSELL, B. H., LIU, Q., JENKINS, S. A., TUVIM, M. J., DICKEY, B. F. & XU, Y. 2008. In vivo demonstration and quantification of intracellular Bacillus anthracis in lung epithelial cells. *Infection and immunity*, 76, 3975-3983.
- SAMBROOK, J. & RUSSELL, D. W. 2006. SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of proteins. *CSH Protoc*, 2006, pdb. prot4540.
- SCHNITTGER, L., RODRIGUEZ, A. E., FLORIN-CHRISTENSEN, M. & MORRISON, D. A. 2012. Babesia: a world emerging. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution,* 12, 1788-1809.
- SCHROEDER JR, H. W. & CAVACINI, L. 2010. Structure and function of immunoglobulins. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 125, S41-S52.
- SELTMANN, A., SCHARES, G., ASCHENBORN, O. H., HEINRICH, S. K., THALWITZER, S., WACHTER, B. & CZIRJÁK, G. Á. 2020. Species-specific differences in Toxoplasma gondii, Neospora caninum and Besnoitia besnoiti seroprevalence in Namibian wildlife. *Parasites & Vectors*, **13**, **1**-12.
- SIT, T. H., BRACKMAN, C. J., IP, S. M., TAM, K. W., LAW, P. Y., TO, E. M., YU, V. Y., SIMS, L. D., TSANG, D. N. & CHU, D. K. 2020. Infection of dogs with SARS-CoV-2. *Nature*, 1-6.
- SMITH, K., DEVOS, V., BRYDEN, H., PRICE, L., HUGH-JONES, M. & KEIM, P. 2000. Bacillus anthracis diversity in kruger national park. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, 38, 3780-3784.

- SOMMER, C. 2005. The immune response. *Pathophysiology: Concepts of altered health states*, 365-402.
- SPENCER, J. A. 1991. Survey of antibodies to feline viruses in free-ranging lions. South African Journal of Wildlife Research-24-month delayed open access, 21, 59-61.
- STEENKAMP, P. J., VAN HEERDEN, H. & VAN SCHALKWYK, O. L. 2018. Ecological suitability modeling for anthrax in the Kruger National Park, South Africa. *PloS one*, 13, e0191704.
- STEPHENSON, N., SWIFT, P., MOELLER, R. B., WORTH, S. J. & FOLEY, J. 2013. Feline infectious peritonitis in a mountain lion (Puma concolor), California, USA. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 49, 408-412.
- SUNDBERG, J., VAN RANST, M., MONTALI, R., HOMER, B., MILLER, W., ROWLAND, P., SCOTT, D., ENGLAND, J., DUNSTAN, R. & MIKAELIAN, I. 2000. Feline papillomas and papillomaviruses. *Veterinary Pathology*, 37, 1-10.
- SYLVESTER, T. T., MARTIN, L. E. R., BUSS, P., LOXTON, A. G., HAUSLER, G. A., ROSSOUW, L., VAN HELDEN, P., PARSONS, S. D. C., OLEA-POPELKA, F. & MILLER, M. A. 2017. Prevalence and risk factors for Mycobacterium bovis infection in African lions (Panthera leo) in the Kruger National Park. *Journal of wildlife diseases*, 53, 372-376.
- TAO, X. & XU, A. 2016. Basic Knowledge of Immunology. *Amphioxus Immunity*. Elsevier.
- TENTER, A. M., HECKEROTH, A. R. & WEISS, L. M. 2000. Toxoplasma gondii: from animals to humans. International journal for parasitology, 30, 1217-1258.
- THALWITZER, S., WACHTER, B., ROBERT, N., WIBBELT, G., MÜLLER, T., LONZER, J., MELI, M. L., BAY, G., HOFER, H. & LUTZ, H. 2010. Seroprevalences to viral pathogens in free-ranging and captive cheetahs (Acinonyx jubatus) on Namibian farmland. *Clin. Vaccine Immunol.*, **17**, 232-238.
- THIRY, E., ADDIE, D., BELÁK, S., BOUCRAUT-BARALON, C., EGBERINK, H., FRYMUS, T., GRUFFYDD-JONES, T., HARTMANN, K., HOSIE, M. J. & LLORET, A. 2009. Feline herpesvirus infection. ABCD guidelines on prevention and management. *Journal of Feline Medicine & Surgery*, **11**, 547-555.
- TIZARD IAN, R. 1996. Veterinary Immunology. *An Introduction. 5th Edition. WB Sauders Company*, 216-236.
- TIZARD, I. R. 2013. Veterinary Immunology-E-Book, Elsevier Health Sciences.
- TOMASI, T. B. 1992. The discovery of secretory IgA and the mucosal immune system. *Immunology today*, 13, 416-418.
- TRINKEL, M., COOPER, D., PACKER, C. & SLOTOW, R. 2011. Inbreeding depression increases susceptibility to bovine tuberculosis in lions: an experimental test using an inbred–outbred contrast through translocation. *Journal of wildlife diseases*, 47, 494-500.
- TROYER, J. L., PECON-SLATTERY, J., ROELKE, M. E., JOHNSON, W., VANDEWOUDE, S., VAZQUEZ-SALAT, N., BROWN, M., FRANK, L., WOODROFFE, R. & WINTERBACH, C. 2005. Seroprevalence and genomic divergence of circulating strains of feline immunodeficiency virus among Felidae and Hyaenidae species. *Journal of virology*, 79, 8282-8294.
- TUBO, N. J. & JENKINS, M. K. 2014. CD4+ T Cells: guardians of the phagosome. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 27, 200-213.
- TUFAN, A., GÜLER, A. A. & MATUCCI-CERINIC, M. 2020. COVID-19, immune system response, hyperinflammation and repurposing antirheumatic drugs. *Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences*, 50, 620-632.
- TURVEY, S. E. & BROIDE, D. H. 2010. Innate immunity. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 125, S24-S32.
- VAERMAN, J., HEREMANS, J. & VAN KERCKHOVEN, G. 1969. Communications: Identification of IgA in several mammalian species. *The Journal of Immunology*, 103, 1421-1423.
- VANDEWOUDE, S., O'BRIEN, S. J. & HOOVER, E. A. 1997. Infectivity of lion and puma lentiviruses for domestic cats. *Journal of General Virology*, 78, 795-800.

- VHOKO, K. 2018. Screening of captive lions (Panthera leo) for selected infectious diseases of significance in Zimbabwe. University of Pretoria.
- VILJOEN, I. M., SYLVESTER, T. T., PARSONS, S. D., MILLAR, R. P., HELDEN, P. D. V. & MILLER, M. A.
 2019. Performance of the tuberculin skin test in mycobacterium bovis—exposed and unexposed african lions (panthera leo). *Journal of wildlife diseases*, 55, 537-543.
- VILJOEN, I. M., VAN HELDEN, P. D. & MILLAR, R. P. 2015. Mycobacterium bovis infection in the lion (Panthera leo): Current knowledge, conundrums and research challenges. *Veterinary microbiology*, 177, 252-260.
- WADHWA, D. & MAHAJAN, V. 2006. Bovine tuberculosis with special reference to its zoonotic significance and control measures. *Intas Polivet*, **7**, 239-246.
- WHO 2008. Anthrax in humans and animals, World Health Organization.
- YAMADA, O., TAMURA, K., YAGIHARA, H., ISOTANI, M., AZAKAMI, M., SAWADA, S., ONO, K., WASHIZU, T. & BONKOBARA, M. 2007. Light-chain multiple myeloma in a cat. *Journal of veterinary diagnostic investigation*, 19, 443-447.
- YANG, Y.-R., FENG, Y.-J., LU, Y.-Y., DONG, H., LI, T.-Y., JIANG, Y.-B., ZHU, X.-Q. & ZHANG, L.-X. 2017. Antibody detection, isolation, genotyping, and virulence of Toxoplasma gondii in captive felids from China. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 8, 1414.
- ZHANG, Y., HOU, Z. & MA, J. 2012. Hemorrhagic enterocolitis and death in two felines (Panthera tigris altaica and Panthera leo) associated with Clostridium perfringens type A. *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine*, 43, 394-396.
- ZHOU, Z.-H., TZIOUFAS, A. G. & NOTKINS, A. L. 2007. Properties and function of polyreactive antibodies and polyreactive antigen-binding B cells. *Journal of autoimmunity*, 29, 219-228.

7. APPENDICES

Animal	NIVERSI NIVERS JNIBES	TEIT VAN PRET ITY OF PRET ITHI YA PRET CS Commit	ORIA DRIA DRIA tee			
PROJECT TITLE	Isolation (<i>Panther</i>	and characterization a leo) from Zimbabwe	of immunoglobulins from lion and South Africa			
PROJECT NUMBER	V023-18					
RESEARCHER/PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR	Dr. D Mo	rar-Leather & T Manar	nela			
STUDENT NUMBER (where applicable)	U_29228	132				
DISSERTATION/THESIS SUBMITTED FOR	Academi	c & MSc (UNISA)				
ANIMAL SPECIES	Lion					
NUMBER OF SAMPLES	40 (See \	40 (See V055-16)				
Approval period to use animals for researc	ch/testing p	urposes	April 2018 - April 2019			
SUPERVISOR	Dr. P Kay	voka-Kabongo				
KINDLY NOTE: Should there be a change in the species of please submit an amendment form to the U experiment APPROVED	or number o IP Animal Et	f animal/s required, or hics Committee for app Date	r the experimental procedure/s proval before commencing with the 23 April 2018			
CHAIRMAN: UP Animal Ethics Committee	ST. 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11	Signature (1): 62	Benett			
	S 42	85-15				



Faculty of Veterinary Science

08 May 2018

TO THE ANIMAL ETHICS COMMITTEE

RE: CAT SERUM SAMPLES

Dr Darshana Morar-Leather has requested cat serum samples from the Onderstepoort Veterinary Academic Hospital (OVAH) to be used in an MSc research project titled "Isolation and characterization of immunoglobulin from *Panthera leo* from Zimbabwe and South Africa". The cat serum samples will be used as controls in the study.

I give my consent and she may contact the veterinarians in the small animal clinic to obtain the samples required for the study.

Yours sincerely PROF M HARTMAN ACTING DIRECTOR - OVAH

Room 1-60, Level 1, Balloing University of Pretoria, Private Bag XD4 Gedenstepport 0110, South Africa Tel +27 (0112 529 6000 Fas +27 (0)12 529 6000 Enail reactives heatman@up.ec.2a www.up.ec.28 Fakulteit Veeartsenykunde Lefapha la Diseanse tša Bongakadiruiwa



agriculture, forestry & fisheries

Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Directorate Animal Health, Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries Private Bag X138, Pretoria 0001 Enquiries: Mr Herry Gololo • Tel: +27 12 319 7532 • Fax: +27 12 319 7470 • E-mail: <u>HerryG@daff.gov.za</u> Reference: 12/11/1/1/6 (643)

Ms Tebogo Sabina Manamela Department of Veterinary Tropical Diseases Faculty of Veterinary Science University of Pretoria Tel: 012 529 8278 E-mail: tbgmanamela@gmail.com; darshana.morar@up.ac.za

RE: PERMISSION TO DO RESEARCH IN TERMS OF SECTION 20 OF THE ANIMAL DISEASES ACT, 1984 (ACT NO. 35 OF 1984)

Dear Ms Manamela,

Your application sent with the email on 29 November 2017 requesting permission under Section 20 of the Animal Disease Act, 1984 (Act No. 35 of 1984) to perform a research project or study, refers. I am pleased to inform you that permission is hereby granted to perform the following study, with the following conditions:

Conditions:

- This permission does not relieve the researcher of any responsibility which may be placed on him by any other act of the Republic of South Africa;
- Written permission from the Director: Animal Health must be obtained prior to any deviation from the conditions approved for this study under this Section 20 permit. Please apply in writing to HerryG@daff.gov.za;
- The specified lion serum samples from Zimbabwe (section 20 approval reference no. 12/11/1/1/8) stored at the DVTD may be utilised for the study as indicated;
- 4. The specified lion serum samples from the Veterinary Wildlife Services (VWS) Laboratory may be utilised for the study as indicated. Based on the letter received from the VWS senior manager and the background information on the specified samples, the samples are regarded as low risk samples and may be transported to



the Department of Veterinary Tropical Diseases. Samples must be packaged and transported in accordance with the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act No. 93 of 1996) and must travel under the cover of Red Cross Permit issued by the State Veterinarian of the area of origin and in full compliance with all the conditions of such a permit;

- All samples and potentially infectious material utilised, collected or generated during the study is to be destroyed at the completion of the study. Records must be kept for five years for auditing purposes.
- If required, an application for an extension must be made by the responsible researcher at least one month prior to the expiry of this Section 20 approval;

Title of research/study: "Isolation and characterisation of immunoglobulins from Panthera leo in southern Africa".

Researcher: Ms Tebogo Sabina Manamela Institution: Department of Veterinary Tropical Diseases, Faculty of Veterinary Science, University of Pretoria Our ref Number: 12/11/1/1/6 (643) Your ref: -Expiry date: December 2018

Kind regards,

ACTING DIRECTOR OF ANIMAL HEALTH Date:

2018 -01- 1 2

-2-

SUBJECT:

PERMISSION TO DO RESEARCH IN TERMS OF SECTION 20 OF THE ANIMAL DISEASES ACT, 1984 (ACT NO. 35 OF 1984)



agriculture, forestry & fisheries

Department: Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Directorate Animal Health, Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries Private Bag X138, Pretoria 0001 Enquiries: Mr Herry Gololo • Tel: +27 12 319 7532 • Fax: +27 12 319 7470 • E-mail: HerryG@daff.gov.za Reference: 12/11/1/1/6 (1277)

Ms Tebogo Sabina Manamela Department of Veterinary Tropical Diseases Faculty of Veterinary Science University of Pretoria Tel: 012 529 8278 E-mail: tbgmanamela@gmail.com; darshana.morar@up.ac.za

RE: AMENDMENT OF SECTION 20 APPROVAL IN TERMS OF THE ANIMAL DISEASES ACT, 1984 (ACT NO 35 OF 1984) FOR: "ISOLATION AND CHARACTERISATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULINS FROM PANTHERA LEO IN SOUTHERN AFRICA".

An amendment is hereby granted on the Section 20 approval that was issued for the above mentioned study on 12 January 2018 (attached):

- 17 additional lion serum samples may be sourced from Ukutula Private Game farm in the North West Province, as indicated. It is the researcher's responsibility to remain in contact with the responsible State Veterinarian regarding the disease status of the area during sampling. Records must be kept for five years for auditing purposes;
- ii. As requested, the validity of the section 20 approval is extended to December 2019;
- iii. Remaining lion serum from the additional Ukutula samples may be stored at -80°C under access control in the DVTD Research and Training Laboratory for the duration of the study until a permanent biobank has been inspected and approved. Stored samples may not be used for further research or be outsourced without prior written approval from the Director: Animal Health;
- All conditions as specified in the Section 20 approval of 12 January 2018 remain in effect.

Kind regards,

DR. MPHO MADA DIRECTOR OF ANIMAL HEALTH Date: 2019 -10- 2 2

-1-



UNISA-CAES ANIMAL RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE

NHREC Registration # : N/A ERC Reference # : 2018/CAES/064

Name : Ms TS Manamela Student #: 61025682

Date: 10/10/2019

Dear Ms Manamela

Decision: Ethics Approval Renewal after First Review from 01/06/2019 to 31/05/2020

Researcher(s): Ms TS Manamela tbgmanamela@gmail.com

Supervisor (s): Dr P Kayoka-Kabongo kabonpnk@unisa.ac.za; 011-471-2949

> Dr D Morar-Leather Darshana.morar@up.ac.za; 012-529-8312

Working title of research:

Isolation and characterization of immunoglobulins from Panthera leo in Southern Africa

Qualification: MSc Agriculture

Thank you for the submission of your progress report to the Unisa-CAES Animal Research Ethics Committee for the above mentioned research. Ethics approval is renewed for a oneyear period. After one year the researcher is required to submit a progress report, upon which the ethics clearance may be renewed for another year.

Due date for progress report: 31 May 2020

Please note the following for further action:

 The researcher is cautioned to adhere to the stipulations of the Section 20 permit. Should any changes to the design of the research project be necessary, an updated Section 20 permit needs to be obtained and submitted to the Committee.



University of South Africa Preller Street, Muckleneuk Ridge, City of Tshwane PO Box 392 UNISA 0003 South Africa Telephone: +27 12 429 3111 Facsimile: +27 12 429 4150 www.unisa.ac.za The **medium risk application** was **reviewed** by the UNISA-CAES Animal Research Ethics Committee on 29 May 2018 in compliance with the Unisa Policy on Research Ethics and the Standard Operating Procedure on Research Ethics Risk Assessment.

The proposed research may now commence with the provisions that:

- The researcher(s) will ensure that the research project adheres to the values and principles expressed in the UNISA Policy on Research Ethics.
- Any adverse circumstance arising in the undertaking of the research project that is relevant to the ethicality of the study should be communicated in writing to the Committee.
- The researcher(s) will conduct the study according to the methods and procedures set out in the approved application.
- 4. Any changes that can affect the study-related risks for the research participants, particularly in terms of assurances made with regards to the protection of participants' privacy and the confidentiality of the data, should be reported to the Committee in writing, accompanied by a progress report.
- 5. The researcher will ensure that the research project adheres to any applicable national legislation, professional codes of conduct, institutional guidelines and scientific standards relevant to the specific field of study. Adherence to the following South African legislation is important, if applicable: Protection of Personal Information Act, no 4 of 2013; Children's act no 38 of 2005 and the National Health Act, no 61 of 2003.
- 6. Only de-identified research data may be used for secondary research purposes in future on condition that the research objectives are similar to those of the original research. Secondary use of identifiable human research data require additional ethics clearance.
- No field work activities may continue after the expiry date. Submission of a completed research ethics progress report will constitute an application for renewal of Ethics Research Committee approval.

Note:

The reference number **2018/CAES/064** should be clearly indicated on all forms of communication with the intended research participants, as well as with the Committee.

Yours sincerely,



University of South Africa Preller Street, Muckleneuk Ridge, City of Tshwane PO Box 392 UNISA 0003 South Africa Telephone: +27 12 429 3111 Facsimile: +27 12 429 4150 www.unisa.ac.za

Dr WM Strauss Chair of UNISA-CAES Animal REC E-mail: strauwm@unisa.ac.za Tel: (011) 471-2163

U

Prof MJ Linington Executive Dean : CAES E-mail: lininmj@unisa.ac.za Tel: (011) 471-3806



University of South Africa Preller Street, Muckleneuk Ridge, City of Tshwane PO Box 392 UNISA 0003 South Africa Telephone: +27 12 429 3111 Facsimile: +27 12 429 4150 www.unisa.ac.za

	Position	Sample name	Protein (mg/ml)	E1%	Impurities (A280)	Background (A280)	Residue (%)	A280	A260/A280
Glycine	A1	blank_A1	-	-	-	0.08	-	0	-
E1 Cat	B1	sample_B1	-	10	-	-	-	-	-
E2 Cat	C1	sample_C1	1.56	10	0.01	0.08	0.4	1.59	0.53
E3 Cat	D1	sample_D1	1.8	10	0	0.21	0.6	1.8	0.52
E4 Cat	E1	sample_E1	1.65	10	0	0.37	0.5	1.66	0.53
E1 Lion	F1	sample_F1	1.55	10	0.01	0.28	0.6	1.58	0.51
E2 Lion	G1	sample_G1	1.91	10	0.22	0.01	1.6	2.15	0.58
E3 Lion	H1	sample_H1	1.58	10	0.01	0.11	0.8	1.6	0.52
E4 Lion	A2	sample_A2	1.64	10	0.01	0.4	0.4	1.66	0.53

Appendix 1: Lion (KNP and Zimbabwe) and Cat Elution Fractions from crude serum

	Cat							Lion								
Dilutions	1	2	3	4	5	6	μ	OD	7	8	9	10	11	12	μ	OD
1 µg/ml	2.619	2.568	2.487	2.54	2.531	2.557	2.550	2.463	2.366	2.324	2.379	2.332	2.329	2.387	2.353	2.300
0.1 µg/ml	1.491	1.403	1.473	1.473	1.456	1.424	1.453	1.366	1.152	1.103	1.093	1.127	1.159	1.188	1.137	1.085
0.01 µg/ml	0.299	0.287	0.3	0.282	0.31	0.303	0.297	0.209	0.198	0.205	0.212	0.204	0.215	0.226	0.210	0.158
0.001 μg/ml	0.128	0.09	0.092	0.078	0.145	0.083	0.103	0.015	0.067	0.061	0.063	0.061	0.062	0.061	0.063	0.010
0 µg/ml	0.146	0.07	0.081	0.058	0.112	0.059	0.088	0.000	0.079	0.049	0.049	0.049	0.045	0.044	0.053	0.000

Sample Name	Protein	Total Protein	Final Volume	Final Volume (ml)	Anti-cat ELISA	Repeats Anti-cat ELISA	OD
	(119/111)	(111g/1111)			Avelage	Average	
Lion 1	0.39	78	0.26	2	2.25	2.07	2.2
Lion 2	0.42	84	0.24	2	2.31	0	2.26
Lion 3	0.55	110	0.45	5	2.27	0	2.22
Lion 4	0.41	82	0.24	2	2.26	0	2.21
Lion 5	0.46	92	0.22	2	2.37	0	2.32
Lion 6	0.42	84	0.24	2	2.25	0	2.21
Lion 7	0.36	72	0.28	2	2.27	0	2.22
Lion 8	0.25	50	0.4	2	2.24	0	2.19
Lion 9	0.34	68	0.29	2	2.28	0	2.23
Lion 10	0.38	76	0.26	2	2.25	0	2.2
Lion 11	0.33	66	0.3	2	2.23	0	2.19
Lion 12	0.35	70	0.29	2	2.24	0	2.19
Lion 13	0.49	98	0.2	2	2.3	0	2.25
Lion 14	0.42	84	0.24	2	2.18	0	2.14
Lion 15	0.39	78	0.26	2	2.24	0	2.19
Lion 16	0.34	68	0.29	2	2.28	0	2.24
Lion 17	0.33	66	0.3	2	2.14	0	2.1
Lion 18	0.51	102	0.49	5	2.24	0	2.2
Lion 19	0.31	62	0.32	2	2.01	0	1.96
Lion 20	0.36	72	0.28	2	2.13	0	2.09
Lion 21	0.25	50	0.4	2	2.18	0	2.13

Appendix 3: Summary of protein concentration and cross-reactivity of lions, cat and chicken crude serum.
Lion 22	0.25	50	0.4	2	2.19	0	2.15
Lion 23	0.33	66	0.3	2	2.17	0	2.13
Lion 24	0.33	66	0.3	2	2.12	0	2.08
Lion 25	0.53	106	0.47	5	2.28	0	2.23
Lion 26	0.38	76	0.26	2	2.28	0	2.23
Lion 27	0.38	76	0.26	2	2.28	0	2.24
Lion 28	0.4	80	0.25	2	2.33	0	2.28
Lion 29	0.32	64	0.31	2	2.41	0	2.36
Lion 30	0.41	82	0.24	2	2.4	0	2.36
Lion 31	0.34	68	0.29	2	2.27	0	2.33
Lion 32	0.22	44	0.45	2	1.39	1.32	1.34
Lion 33	0.33	66	0.3	2	2.3	0	2.25
Lion 34	0.48	96	0.21	2	2.33	0	2.28
Lion 35	0.48	96	0.21	2	2.27	0	2.22
Lion 36	0.36	72	0.28	2	2.27	0	2.22
Lion 37	0.43	86	0.23	2	2.26	0	2.21
Lion 38	0.5	100	0.2	2	2.33	0	2.28
Lion 39	0.44	88	0.23	2	2.28	0	2.23
Lion 40	0.36	72	0.28	2	2.26	0	2.21
ZimLion 1	1.55	310	0.32	10	1.74	2.02	1.96
ZimLion 2	0.41	82	0.24	2	1.86	2.1	2.04
ZimLion 3	0.4	80	0.25	2	1.91	2.09	2.03
ZimLion 4	0.54	108	0.46	5	1.85	2.03	1.97
ZimLion 5	0.59	118	0.42	5	1.89	2.03	1.98
ZimLion 6	0.45	90	0.2	2	1.99	2.13	2.08
ZimLion 7	0.62	124	0.4	5	1.77	1.98	1.92
ZimLion 10	0.37	74	0.27	2	1.67	1.86	1.8
ZimLion 11	0.33	66	0.3	2	1.87	1.93	1.87
ZimLion 12	0.43	86	0.23	2	1.86	1.93	1.88

ZimLion 13	0.63	126	0.4	5	1.83	1.91	1.85
ZimLion 14	0.36	72	0.28	2	1.87	1.93	1.87
Cat	0.25	50	0.8	2	2.14	0	2.14
Rhino	0.9	180	0.27	5	0.51	0	0.5
Chicken	0.25	50	0.8	2	0.05	0	0
PBS	0	0	0	0	0.05	0	0

Appendix 4: ELISA results for Cross-reactivity between cat, lion, chicken and rhino crude serum

10 µg/ml												
1:20 000 Conjugate	Cat	Rhino	Chicken	Lion1	Lion 2	Lion 3	Lion 4	Lion5	Lion6	Lion7	Lion8	Negative
Α	2.22	0.55	0.05	2.28	2.25	2.32	2.27	2.30	2.29	2.28	2.30	0.05
В	2.27	0.54	0.05	2.17	2.35	2.31	2.23	2.34	2.24	2.30	2.27	0.04
С	2.28	0.55	0.05	2.28	2.29	2.23	2.14	2.53	2.21	2.21	2.23	0.05
D	2.19	0.53	0.05	2.15	2.33	2.18	2.15	2.22	2.28	2.29	2.16	0.04
E	2.30	0.54	0.05	2.22	2.28	2.19	2.34	2.23	2.21	2.21	2.20	0.05
F	2.40	0.56	0.05	2.26	2.27	2.28	2.40	2.71	2.19	2.28	2.21	0.05
G	2.36	0.55	0.05	2.29	2.33	2.28	2.27	2.28	2.29	2.32	2.21	0.07
H	2.35	0.57	0.05	2.34	2.38	2.37	2.30	2.34	2.34	2.26	2.35	0.04
Mean	2.2951	0.5475	0.0471	2.2494	2.3118	2.2683	2.2628	2.3685	2.2548	2.2686	2.2419	0.0490
OD	2.2461	0.4985	-0.0019	2.2004	2.2628	2.2193	2.2138	2.3195	2.2058	2.2196	2.1929	0.0000
10 µg/ml												
1:20 000 Conjugate	Cat	Rhino	Chicken	Lion 9	Lion 10	Lion 11	Lion 12	Lion 13	Lion 14	Lion 15	Lion 16	Negative
Α	2.25	0.55	0.05	2.28	2.43	2.34	2.35	2.35	2.21	2.32	2.19	0.04
В	2.30	0.55	0.05	2.22	2.22	2.48	2.22	2.25	2.24	2.23	2.13	0.04
С	2.28	0.54	0.05	2.16	2.24	2.22	2.21	2.21	2.08	2.21	2.21	0.05
D	2.21	0.52	0.05	2.30	2.14	2.17	2.14	2.28	2.16	2.20	2.22	0.05

E	2.28	0.54	0.05	2.31	2.13	2.19	2.20	2.22	2.14	2.19	2.50	0.06
F	2.30	0.55	0.05	2.29	2.38	2.19	2.23	2.35	2.21	2.18	2.47	0.05
G	2.24	0.54	0.05	2.30	2.16	2.11	2.23	2.33	2.18	2.25	2.27	0.04
Н	2.31	0.55	0.04	2.37	2.29	2.18	2.32	2.39	2.22	2.32	2.29	0.03
Mean	2.2716	0.5414	0.0476	2.2794	2.2464	2.2344	2.2371	2.2978	2.1803	2.2364	2.2824	0.0449
OD	2.2268	0.4965	0.0028	2.2345	2.2015	2.1895	2.1923	2.2529	2.1354	2.1915	2.2375	0.0000

10 µg/ml												
1:20 000 Conjugate	Cat	Rhino	Chicken	Lion 17	Lion 18	Lion 19	Lion 20	Lion 21	Lion 22	Lion 23	Lion 24	Negative
Α	2.33	0.57	0.05	2.19	2.32	2.09	2.17	2.22	2.29	2.25	2.10	0.05
В	2.27	0.55	0.05	2.23	2.31	2.06	2.15	2.98	2.23	2.19	2.10	0.05
С	2.31	0.53	0.05	2.19	2.32	2.04	2.16	2.11	2.24	2.22	2.14	0.04
D	2.23	0.56	0.05	2.11	2.21	2.01	2.17	2.05	2.07	2.12	2.13	0.04
E	2.22	0.54	0.05	2.07	2.26	1.96	2.09	1.98	2.10	2.21	2.12	0.04
F	2.26	0.55	0.05	2.16	2.14	1.93	2.13	2.02	2.23	2.05	2.14	0.04
G	2.27	0.52	0.05	2.07	2.16	1.97	2.05	2.03	2.17	2.15	2.13	0.05
Н	2.30	0.56	0.05	2.11	2.22	1.99	2.12	2.06	2.21	2.20	2.14	0.04
Mean	2.2728	0.5469	0.0469	2.1410	2.2434	2.0068	2.1300	2.1783	2.1909	2.1728	2.1226	0.0446
OD	2.2281	0.5023	0.0023	2.0964	2.1988	1.9621	2.0854	2.1336	2.1463	2.1281	2.0780	0.0000

10 µg/ml												
1:20 000 Conjugate	Cat	Rhino	Chicken	Lion 25	Lion 26	Lion 27	Lion 28	Lion 29	Lion 30	Lion 31	Lion 32	Negative
Α	2.43	0.61	0.05	2.39	2.31	2.33	2.38	2.48	2.52	2.39	0.67	0.04
В	2.40	0.59	0.05	2.23	2.34	2.33	2.34	2.32	2.33	2.35	1.52	0.04
С	2.47	0.60	0.05	2.33	2.27	2.42	2.37	2.38	2.62	2.30	1.47	0.05
D	2.48	0.58	0.05	2.27	2.23	2.26	2.41	2.49	2.32	2.37	1.53	0.05
E	2.30	0.58	0.05	2.28	2.22	2.23	2.31	2.41	2.32	2.25	1.44	0.05
F	2.38	0.59	0.05	2.23	2.31	2.24	2.32	2.41	2.35	2.50	1.41	0.06

G	2.41	0.57	0.05	2.23	2.29	2.25	2.23	2.47	2.38	2.37	1.59	0.05
Н	2.45	0.58	0.06	2.28	2.24	2.21	2.25	2.30	2.37	2.47	1.46	0.05
Mean	2.4140	0.5860	0.0499	2.2778	2.2754	2.2836	2.3256	2.4064	2.4016	2.3731	1.3856	0.0489
OD	2.3694	0.5414	0.0053	2.2331	2.2308	2.2390	2.2810	2.3618	2.3570	2.3285	1.3410	0.0043

10 µg/ml												
1:20 000 Conjugate	Cat	Rhino	Chicken	Lion 33	Lion 34	Lion 35	Lion 36	Lion 37	Lion 38	Lion 39	Lion 40	Negative
Α	2.25	0.57	0.06	2.40	2.36	2.31	2.34	2.35	2.35	2.32	2.25	0.04
В	2.24	0.51	0.04	2.24	2.28	2.21	2.29	2.25	2.33	2.26	2.29	0.05
С	2.20	0.51	0.04	2.28	2.39	2.18	2.27	2.25	2.31	2.30	2.31	0.07
D	2.20	0.52	0.04	2.20	2.42	2.21	2.29	2.27	2.34	2.28	2.26	0.04
E	2.17	0.53	0.04	2.40	2.23	2.20	2.21	2.18	2.28	2.26	2.20	0.05
F	2.17	0.51	0.04	2.36	2.38	2.23	2.30	2.36	2.38	2.28	2.23	0.05
G	2.17	0.57	0.04	2.29	2.26	2.58	2.22	2.15	2.28	2.25	2.29	0.06
Н	2.16	0.51	0.04	2.25	2.31	2.24	2.25	2.29	2.34	2.30	2.28	0.04
Mean	2.1951	0.5298	0.0414	2.3016	2.3290	2.2690	2.2706	2.2626	2.3259	2.2795	2.2641	0.0499
OD	2.1453	0.4799	-0.0085	2.2518	2.2791	2.2191	2.2208	2.2128	2.2760	2.2296	2.2143	0.0000
			•			I						
10 µg/ml												
10 µg/ml 1:20 000 Conjugate	Cat	Rhino	Chicken	ZimLion 1	ZimLion 2	ZimLion 3	ZimLion 4	ZimLion 5	ZimLion 6	ZimLion 7	ZimLion 10	Negative
10 μg/ml 1:20 000 Conjugate Α	Cat 1.81	Rhino 0.43	Chicken 0.04	ZimLion 1 1.80	ZimLion 2 1.83	ZimLion 3 1.88	ZimLion 4 1.79	ZimLion 5 1.85	ZimLion 6 1.93	ZimLion 7 1.77	ZimLion 10 1.65	Negative
10 μg/ml 1:20 000 Conjugate A B	Cat 1.81 1.89	Rhino 0.43 0.41	Chicken 0.04 0.04	ZimLion 1 1.80 1.72	ZimLion 2 1.83 1.90	ZimLion 3 1.88 1.88	ZimLion 4 1.79 1.97	ZimLion 5 1.85 1.92	ZimLion 6 1.93 1.92	ZimLion 7 1.77 1.77	ZimLion 10 1.65 1.63	Negative 0.05 0.04
10 μg/ml 1:20 000 Conjugate A B C	Cat 1.81 1.89 1.88	Rhino 0.43 0.41 0.42	Chicken 0.04 0.04 0.04	ZimLion 1 1.80 1.72 1.75	ZimLion 2 1.83 1.90 1.94	ZimLion 3 1.88 1.88 1.88	ZimLion 4 1.79 1.97 1.80	ZimLion 5 1.85 1.92 1.87	ZimLion 6 1.93 1.92 1.90	ZimLion 7 1.77 1.77 1.77	ZimLion 10 1.65 1.63 1.63	Negative 0.05 0.04 0.05
<mark>10 µg/ml</mark> 1:20 000 Conjugate A B C D	Cat 1.81 1.89 1.88 1.80	Rhino 0.43 0.41 0.42	Chicken 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04	ZimLion 1 1.80 1.72 1.75 1.72	ZimLion 2 1.83 1.90 1.94 1.85	ZimLion 3 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.96	ZimLion 4 1.79 1.97 1.80 1.87	ZimLion 5 1.85 1.92 1.87 1.86	ZimLion 6 1.93 1.92 1.90 1.99	ZimLion 7 1.77 1.77 1.77 1.77	ZimLion 10 1.65 1.63 1.63 1.72	Negative 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04
10 μg/ml 1:20 000 Conjugate A B C D E	Cat 1.81 1.89 1.88 1.80 1.80	Rhino 0.43 0.41 0.42 0.42	Chicken 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04	ZimLion 1 1.80 1.72 1.75 1.72 1.77	ZimLion 2 1.83 1.90 1.94 1.85 1.81	ZimLion 3 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.96 1.95	ZimLion 4 1.79 1.97 1.80 1.87 1.81	ZimLion 5 1.85 1.92 1.87 1.86 1.87	ZimLion 6 1.93 1.92 1.90 1.99 2.01	ZimLion 7 1.77 1.77 1.77 1.74 1.78	ZimLion 10 1.65 1.63 1.63 1.72 1.66	Negative 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04
10 μg/ml 1:20 000 Conjugate A B C D E F	Cat 1.81 1.89 1.88 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.83	Rhino 0.43 0.41 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.42	Chicken 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04	ZimLion 1 1.80 1.72 1.75 1.72 1.77 1.74	ZimLion 2 1.83 1.90 1.94 1.85 1.81 1.83	ZimLion 3 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.96 1.95 1.90	ZimLion 4 1.79 1.97 1.80 1.87 1.81 1.80	ZimLion 5 1.85 1.92 1.87 1.86 1.87 1.87	ZimLion 6 1.93 1.92 1.90 1.99 2.01 1.98	ZimLion 7 1.77 1.77 1.77 1.77 1.74 1.78 1.79	ZimLion 10 1.65 1.63 1.63 1.72 1.66 1.74	Negative 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05
10 μg/ml 1:20 000 Conjugate A B C D E F G	Cat 1.81 1.89 1.88 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.83 1.81	Rhino 0.43 0.41 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.42	Chicken 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04	ZimLion 1 1.80 1.72 1.75 1.72 1.77 1.74 1.71	ZimLion 2 1.83 1.90 1.94 1.85 1.81 1.83 1.83	ZimLion 3 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.96 1.95 1.90 1.90	ZimLion 4 1.79 1.97 1.80 1.87 1.81 1.80 1.87	ZimLion 5 1.85 1.92 1.87 1.86 1.87 1.87 1.87 1.95	ZimLion 6 1.93 1.92 1.90 1.99 2.01 1.98 2.17	ZimLion 7 1.77 1.77 1.77 1.74 1.78 1.79 1.75	ZimLion 10 1.65 1.63 1.63 1.72 1.66 1.74 1.66	Negative 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04
10 μg/ml 1:20 000 Conjugate A B C D E F G H	Cat 1.81 1.89 1.88 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.83 1.81 1.81	Rhino 0.43 0.41 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.42	Chicken 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04	ZimLion 1 1.80 1.72 1.75 1.72 1.77 1.74 1.71 1.74	ZimLion 2 1.83 1.90 1.94 1.85 1.81 1.83 1.83 1.83	ZimLion 3 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.96 1.95 1.90 1.90 1.95	ZimLion 4 1.79 1.97 1.80 1.87 1.81 1.80 1.87 1.87	ZimLion 5 1.85 1.92 1.87 1.86 1.87 1.87 1.95 1.96	ZimLion 6 1.93 1.92 1.90 1.99 2.01 1.98 2.17 2.00	ZimLion 7 1.77 1.77 1.77 1.74 1.78 1.79 1.75 1.79	ZimLion 10 1.65 1.63 1.63 1.72 1.66 1.74 1.66 1.73	Negative 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.04

OD	1.7828	0.3766	-0.0067	1.6961	1.8090	1.8653	1.8009	1.8479	1.9406	1.7241	1.6280	0.0000
----	--------	--------	---------	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------

10 µg/ml												
1:20 000 Conjugate	Cat	Rhino	Chicken	ZimLion 11	ZimLion 12	ZimLion 12	ZimLion 13	ZimLion 13	ZimLion 14	ZimLion 14	Lion 32	Negative
Α	2.08	0.47	0.04	2.00	1.88	1.83	1.85	1.81	1.89	1.82	1.22	0.04
В	1.95	0.45	0.15	1.89	1.76	1.82	1.82	1.80	1.87	1.74	1.16	0.03
С	2.04	0.46	0.04	1.84	1.87	1.80	1.77	1.80	1.79	2.02	1.17	0.04
D	2.04	0.48	0.03	1.79	1.81	1.83	1.79	1.75	1.81	1.82	1.21	0.04
E	2.01	0.49	0.04	1.82	1.82	1.83	1.81	2.20	1.81	1.86	1.20	0.05
F	1.98	0.47	0.04	1.82	1.91	1.95	1.74	1.80	1.92	1.84	1.26	0.07
G	1.98	0.47	0.04	1.90	1.87	1.87	1.79	1.79	1.82	2.03	1.24	0.05
Н	2.02	0.52	0.04	1.93	1.91	1.96	1.86	1.84	2.00	1.91	1.28	0.05
Mean	2.0124	0.4749	0.0514	1.8740	1.8520	1.8610	1.8023	1.8473	1.8624	1.8790	1.217	0.045
OD	1.9674	0.4299	0.0064	1.8290	1.8070	1.8160	1.7573	1.8023	1.8174	1.8340	1.1720	0.0000

Plate 13 anti- cat ELISA		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1:20 000 conjugate		cat serum	rhino	Chicken	Lion 1	Lion 32	ZimLion 1	ZimLion 2	ZimLion 3	ZimLion 4	ZimLion 5	ZimLion 6	Negative
А	10 µg/ml	1.99	0.50	0.06	2.22	1.37	2.06	2.15	2.17	2.08	2.07	2.14	0.05
В	10 µg/ml	2.04	0.50	0.05	2.16	1.33	2.07	2.17	2.17	2.05	2.05	2.13	0.05
С	10 µg/ml	2.00	0.49	0.05	0.05	1.33	2.04	2.12	2.12	2.07	2.08	2.12	0.04
D	10 µg/ml	2.03	0.46	0.06	2.14	1.32	2.01	2.13	2.08	2.03	2.01	2.11	0.10
E	10 µg/ml	1.99	0.48	0.06	2.07	1.30	2.02	2.14	2.04	1.99	1.98	2.11	0.05
F	10 µg/ml	2.04	0.47	0.05	1.97	1.32	2.07	2.02	2.03	2.03	2.03	2.25	0.05
G	10 µg/ml	1.98	0.46	0.05	2.06	1.28	1.93	2.01	2.00	1.99	2.03	2.11	0.05
Н	10 µg/ml	2.03	0.48	0.06	2.07	1.29	1.93	2.04	2.09	1.98	2.03	2.12	0.05
Mean	10 µg/ml	2.0133	0.4796	0.0526	2.0985	1.3161	2.0154	2.0978	2.0878	2.0266	2.0341	2.1349	0.0538
OD	10 µg/ml	1.9595	0.4259	-0.0011	2.0448	1.2624	1.9616	2.0440	2.0340	1.9729	1.9804	2.0811	0.0000

Plate 14 anti- cat ELISA		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1:20 000 conjugate		cat serum	rhino	Chicken	Lion 1	Lion32	ZimLion 7	ZimLion	ZimLion	ZimLion	ZimLion 13	ZimLion 14	Negative
A	10 µg/ml	2.02	0.48	0.04	2.02	1.29	1.97	1.87	1.94	1.91	1.87	1.91	0.06
В	10 µg/ml	2.00	0.47	0.05	2.01	1.29	2.33	1.84	1.96	1.93	1.83	1.90	0.05
С	10 µg/ml	1.98	0.48	0.07	2.00	1.32	1.94	1.87	1.94	1.91	1.89	1.89	0.05
D	10 µg/ml	1.99	0.48	0.05	2.04	1.36	1.91	1.86	1.94	1.92	1.86	1.88	0.05
E	10 µg/ml	2.01	0.49	0.05	2.05	1.33	1.90	1.87	1.94	2.06	1.88	1.97	0.06
F	10 µg/ml	2.05	0.49	0.05	2.04	1.34	1.94	1.88	1.89	1.94	2.13	2.00	0.05
G	10 µg/ml	1.99	0.47	0.05	2.02	1.31	1.93	1.82	1.90	1.88	1.88	1.95	0.06
Н	10 µg/ml	1.99	0.47	0.04	2.04	1.32	1.92	1.86	1.93	1.93	1.89	1.93	0.08
Mean	10 µg/ml	2.0028	0.4769	0.0489	2.0270	1.3199	1.9799	1.8593	1.9299	1.9348	1.9056	1.9294	0.0575
OD	10 µg/ml	1.9453	0.4194	-0.0086	1.9695	1.2624	1.9224	1.8018	1.8724	1.8773	1.8481	1.8719	0.0000